

Qualitative research on legal barriers to young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services



# Who we are

The International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF) is a global service provider and a leading advocate of sexual and reproductive health and rights for all. We are a worldwide movement of national organizations working with and for communities and individuals.

IPPF works towards a world where women, men and young people everywhere have control over their own bodies, and therefore their destinies. A world where they are free to choose parenthood or not; free to decide how many children they will have and when; free to pursue healthy sexual lives without fear of unwanted pregnancies and sexually transmitted infections, including HIV. A world where gender or sexuality are no longer a source of inequality or stigma. We will not retreat from doing everything we can to safeguard these important choices and rights for current and future generations.

# **Contents**

1 Introduction and conceptual framework	3
Sexual and reproductive health	
Child	
Young person	
Evolving capacities	
Best interests	
Protection and autonomy	
2 Desk review	6
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Importance of access	
2.3 Barriers to access	
2.4 A global review — legal barriers to access	
2.4.1 Access to services	
2.4.2 Sexual freedom, equality and consent	
2.4.3 Violence and the criminalisation of sexual activity	
3 Concluding thoughts	28
Country selection	
Sampling methods	
4 Methodology	29
Primary data collection methods	
Ethical guidelines	
Endnotes	34

2 Qualitative research on legal barriers to young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services Inception report		

# 1 Introduction and conceptual framework

This inception report forms part of a pilot research project conducted by Coram Children's Legal Centre (CCLC) on behalf of the International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). The research seeks to understand how law, as well as knowledge and perceptions of law, can create barriers to young people's access to sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services.

This report is intended to act as a tool to guide the content and process of the research project. The report has three sections as follows:

- 1 The first section of the report explores several terms and concepts relevant to the research question.
- 2 The second section reviews existing information concerning young people's access to SRH services. It contains a summary global mapping of the basic ways in which different legal systems impose restrictions on young people's access to SRH services both directly and indirectly.
- **3** On the bases of the information outlined in sections one and two, section three of the report sets out the methodology that the research team will use for primary data collection.

The following section will explore several terms and concepts relevant to the research question in order to frame research and findings.

### Sexual and reproductive health

Sexual and reproductive health is fundamental to the general health and well-being of young people, women and men. SRH encompasses a magnitude of issues, including, but not limited to, contraception, family planning, abortion, pre-natal and postnatal care, maternal and infant mortality, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and sexual violence.

This study takes a holistic view of SRH, as described in the following definitions from the World Health Organization:

**Sexual health:** "...a state of physical, emotional, mental and social well-being in relation to sexuality; it is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual disease, dysfunction or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination and violence. For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected and fulfilled".1

**Reproductive health:** "implies that people are able to have a responsible, satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so. Implicit in this are the right

of men and women to be informed of and to have access to safe, effective, affordable and acceptable methods of fertility regulation of their choice, and the right of access to appropriate health care services that will enable women to go safely through pregnancy and childbirth and provide couples with the best chance of having a healthy infant".<sup>2</sup>

**Sexual and reproductive rights (SRR)** are human rights that relate to sex, sexuality and reproduction. In a declaration on sexual rights, the International Planned Parenthood Federation identifies 10 such rights:

**Article 1:** The right to equality, equal protection of the law and freedom from all forms of discrimination based on sex, sexuality or gender;

**Article 2:** The right to participation for all persons, regardless of sex, sexuality or gender;

**Article 3:** The rights to life, liberty, security of the person and bodily integrity;

Article 4: Right to privacy;

**Article 5:** Right to personal autonomy and recognition before the law;

**Article 6:** Right to freedom of thought, opinion and expression; right to association;

**Article 7:** Right to health and to the benefits of scientific progress;

Article 8: Right to education and information;

**Article 9:** Right to choose whether or not to marry and to found and plan a family, and to decide whether or not, how and when, to have children;

Article 10: Right to accountability and redress.3

It is important to note that given that SRR include being free from discrimination based on sexuality, sexual orientation or gender identity, individual rights that protect SRR should not change or be compromised whether an individual is single, married or a member of a couple.

#### Child

For the purposes of this study a child is anyone between the ages of 0 and 18 years, in accordance with Article 1 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).<sup>4</sup>

#### Young person

The terms 'young person' and 'young people' refer to anyone between the ages of 10 and 24 years, as defined in IPPF policy.<sup>5</sup>

### **Evolving capacities**

As young people grow and develop, their capacities to make decisions and act independently evolve. This will happen at different rates for different young people in different contexts. Thus Article 5 of the UNCRC states that, while it is the responsibility of parents and caregivers to provide direction and guidance to children, they must do so in a way that accounts for the 'evolving capacities' of the child, and as a child gains skills, experience, judgment and other competencies, he or she will rely less on parental direction and take greater responsibility over his or her life.<sup>6</sup> As put by IPPF, when determining how to promote a safe and protective environment, "respect must be afforded to children's emerging autonomy".<sup>7</sup>

#### **Best interests**

The best interest principle, articulated in Article 3 of the UNCRC, states that in all decisions affecting children, "the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration". However determining the best interests of the child is rarely straightforward; the outcomes of potential decisions affecting children may be difficult to predict, highly contextual, and likely to impact on children's well-being in a variety of different ways, giving rise to a need to balance a range of competing values and interests.

Consider the issue of female genital mutilation (FGM); in contexts where FGM plays a critical role in a girl's acceptance into her community, marriage, and future, it is possible that not undergoing the process could result in social exclusion and suffering; whereas undergoing the procedure is likely to cause (extreme) physical, emotional, sexual and social harm.<sup>9</sup>

For these reasons, the principle of 'best interests' is highly elusive and subjective in nature; in practice it may be evoked to justify all manner of decisions or actions affecting children, which may have little or no relationship to rights.

#### **Protection and autonomy**

The balance between protection and autonomy is at the heart of the SRH and rights of children and young adults; understanding the interaction between these concepts is critical to conducting this study, and to the interpretation and analysis of findings. Protection is fundamental to a child's safety, well-being and physical, cognitive, social, emotional and moral development. As a child grows, and his or her capacities evolve, the child's autonomy develops and he or she will begin to experience greater freedom and privilege, but also greater responsibility.

As explored in the IPPF 'Understanding Young People's Right to Decide' series, broadly, protection can be approached in three ways:

- 1 Creation of a legal or policy framework which defines standard parameters in order to create a safe environment, for example, minimum legal ages for sexual consent, marriage and consent to medical treatment; content regulation of the media, Internet and entertainment industries, etc.
- 2 Controls and limitations on young people's behaviour imposed from outside or removing young people from access to harm, for example by caregivers enforcing behavioural rules regarding relationships, sexual activity and access to potentially inappropriate media content, etc.
- 3 Empowerment or capacity building of children and young people to protect themselves and their peers, for example, through developmentally appropriate comprehensive sexuality education from an early age; life skills on critical thinking, decision-making and confidence to negotiate consensual safe sex; technical skills such as use of condoms, contraceptives, etc.<sup>10</sup>

Approaches one and two are perhaps the most straight forward strategies for protecting young people, and often the most common approaches adopted by governments, as well as by families and caretakers, who establish rules to protect young people and limit and direct their behaviour. However it is necessary to utilise all three approaches in order to truly promote a young person's well-being. Empowering a child and building their capacity is critical to the fulfilment of that child's rights as an active and autonomous subject, and will contribute to their ability to make decisions that promote their own protection.

Furthermore, while protection and autonomy may seem to be conflicting principles since protective measures tend to restrict young people's autonomy, they are actually mutually reinforcing and should be understood as such. For instance, a young person will experience more difficulty developing the capacity to respond to a potentially dangerous or abusive situation or take appropriate action unless they are protected against harm; it is only within a safe and healthy environment that a young person can begin to experience freedom and choice. Similarly, protective measures are unlikely to function effectively where young people are not empowered: "all the externally imposed protective measures in the world, such as legislation, policies and professional codes of conduct, are not sufficient to keep young people safe if they themselves are not able to recognise potentially dangerous or abusive situations or take appropriate action to minimise risks".<sup>11</sup>

When considering the SRH of children and young adults and particularly their right to SRH, the ideal balance between approaching young people as vulnerable and in need of protection, and as autonomous individuals to be empowered to pursue their own decisions may be difficult to judge. SRH issues are sensitive in nearly every cultural context, and attitudes towards adolescent sexuality are very context specific. While in some societies, sex and relationships are viewed as part of a young person's normal development, in others, sexual activity by young people is

condemned, discouraged, or even denied. The later view often leads to an exclusive focus on restrictive forms of protection that deny the young person opportunities for agency or autonomy, with problematic implications for the rights of the child/young adult, and their right to SRH. This is particularly problematic when protective approaches serve to increase young people's vulnerability, disabling them from pursuing their rights or removing themselves from harmful situations. For instance, many societies, which condemn young people's involvement in any form of sexual activity, deny young people information about SRH, including contraceptives. As a result, when young people do become involved in sexual activity, they do so without the information necessary to make decisions in their own best interests or protect themselves, leading to early pregnancy and the transmission of STIs.

# 2 Desk review

## 2.1 Introduction

Access to family planning and SRH services for young people is limited to greater and lesser degrees in all countries around the world. Some barriers are prescribed by law; others derive from social, religious, moral or other beliefs and norms relating to young people's sexuality (which themselves both shape, and are shaped by, law). This research project examines the role that legislation plays in creating barriers to access of SRH services. This desk review forms the first part of the research, providing a mapping of legislation from around the world related to SRH. The review draws out commonalities and differences across jurisdictions in an attempt to understand the various ways in which legal systems are constructed to regulate young people's access to SRH services.<sup>12</sup>

The first section of the review provides a brief background and summary of basic information and statistics relevant to the research question, to provide crucial insights into the broader global contexts within which different legal systems are operating.

## 2.2 Importance of access

Limited access to SRH services has serious implications for a range of rights of young people, which have been well researched and documented. There are approximately 222 million women with an unmet need for contraception, 50 million of whom are under the age of 25.13 The absence of SRH services including access to contraceptives results in higher rates of unwanted pregnancies.<sup>14</sup> The United Nations Population Fund has found that unwanted pregnancies are disproportionately high amongst young, unmarried girls who often lack access to contraception.<sup>15</sup> Further, an estimated 7.4 million adolescent girls across Sub-Saharan Africa, South Central and Southeast Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean experience unintended pregnancies per year, partly due to a lack of access to contraceptives.16 An estimated 340 million cases of new bacterial STIs occur each year, in addition to many more viral infections, including 5 million HIV infections.<sup>17</sup> Access to SRH services both affects and is affected by (in)equality; women and young people experience particularly poor access to medical care in many countries. An estimated 356,000 women die annually during pregnancy or childbirth, primarily from preventable causes, 18 and nearly 8 million children under the age of five die each year (an indicator strong linked to maternal health and access to post-natal health care). 19 Most of these deaths could have been prevented through access to health care, including antenatal care, and the presence of a skilled attendant during childbirth and immediately after birth. Each year 20 million unsafe abortions lead to the death of an estimated 46,000 women.<sup>20</sup> Ninety-eight percent of abortion-related deaths occur in developing countries, mostly in Latin America and Asia.21

### 2.3 Barriers to access

There are a number of reasons why barriers to SRH services are particularly high in some country contexts. These include:

**Economic and structural factors:** Poverty plays a significant role in determining who can access SRH services in many countries, and may be the greatest barrier to access to SRH services around the world. The introduction of user fees, in particular, prevents many poor people from utilising health services; in India for example, evidence suggests that user fees discourage women from giving birth in formal institutions.<sup>22</sup> Furthermore, in many developing countries, governments do not have the capacity to provide universal access due to lack of human resources (trained doctors, nurses, midwives, etc), lack of technical expertise and scarce drug and contraceptive supplies.<sup>23</sup>

**Gender roles:** Gender norms that assign men decision-making power, particularly relating to sex, relationships and family life, restrict access to SRH services for both young men and women (particularly women). For example, men may associate masculinity with being 'macho' and consider seeking appropriate sexual health information or care as embarrassing, while women who play a subordinate role in relationships and are financially dependent on men may have limited power to negotiate the use of condoms during sex.<sup>24</sup> Gender norms that restrict women's sexual activity outside of marriage also restrict access to SRH services. In some contexts, unmarried women are often denied contraceptives, and married women may be restricted from using contraceptives without the permission of their husbands.<sup>25</sup>

Religious Conservatism: Religious norms which limit sexual activity or promote strong discretion and control around sex may also restrict SRH access for young people. Religious conservatives often argue that teaching young people information about sex or giving them access to contraception will encourage them to engage in intercourse when they otherwise would not. In the United States, for example, conservative Christian attitudes towards sex have led to government funding restrictions on services for sex workers, and have pushed schools to implement sexual education programmes that teach abstinence as the sole means of preventing STIs and pregnancy.<sup>26</sup> Rather than making young people less likely to have sex, these sorts of policy decisions are more likely to compromise young people's ability to make informed decisions about safe sexual practices and family planning.<sup>27</sup> As a result, policy and funding decisions that reflect conservative religious ideas restrict progress towards achieving universal access to SRH services and negatively influence legal frameworks surrounding access.

**Social taboos:** In many cultures there is stigma attached to young people's sexuality, resulting in lack of discussion around sexuality or sex. For example, in many countries, engaging

in intercourse before marriage is viewed as unacceptable.<sup>28</sup> In these environments, young women's access to contraception and other SRH services is limited by social stigma or legal restrictions.<sup>29</sup> This in turn leads to unwanted pregnancy, STIs and unsafe abortions.<sup>30</sup> Young people may be hesitant to access treatment for STIs or HIV because they do not want to be seen as sexually active, sick or infected, particularly in contexts where services cannot be accessed in privacy and confidence. Unmarried adolescent girls are often denied SRH services even when vulnerable to violence and sexual abuse.<sup>31</sup> Social taboos surrounding young people's sexuality restrict healthy and helpful discussions about sexual health issues among young people, their parents and peers.<sup>32</sup>

**Policy context:** Policy in many countries and internationally often replaces an understanding of 'sexual and reproductive health' with 'reproductive health'.<sup>33</sup> Whilst the two are very much linked, reducing the former to the latter has the effect that the overwhelming focus of SRH services and information is limited to pregnancy. This fails to address broader personal, relationship and social contexts that form part of promoting sexual health (for example, the protection and promotion of sexual freedom and equality). Confused and restrictive political contexts often result in inconsistencies in law. For example, in Zimbabwe, whilst 16 year olds can legally consent to sex, they are not permitted to use services and information regarding contraception and STI prevention.<sup>34</sup>

**Geographic inaccessibility:** Poor transport infrastructure and other structural barriers can prevent access to services in rural areas. In many countries, isolated populations may have limited or no access to formal government provided SRH services, particularly in contexts where there are vast development and economic inequalities between urban and rural areas.<sup>35 36</sup>

**Legislation:** Finally, in many countries, legislation restricts access to SRH services, particularly for young people. Laws that make it difficult for young people to access SRH services are often (supposedly) derived from a protectionist approach to young people's sexuality; the belief that young people should be protected from harm that may result from sexual activity or exploitation.<sup>37</sup> An example of this is age-based consent laws that require minors to seek parental consent before they are able to access SRH care and information. Far from fulfilling their (presumed) protectionist objective, the practical impact of such laws may be that young people to engage in unsafe sexual behaviour, as they are unable to access the information, advice and medical support that they need to make informed, healthy and autonomous decisions.<sup>38</sup>

Whilst there is a strong body of research on the effect that gender, culture, religion and other social factors has on young people's access to SRH services, less in-depth research has been conducted on the legislative barriers that particularly affect young people. Furthermore, information databases concerning law that affects access to SRH often fail to consider how legal provisions may or may not be different in their application to young people, for example, access to contraception may be legal but only after an individual has reached a certain age.<sup>39</sup>

The following section contains a summary global mapping of the ways in which different jurisdictions impose legal restrictions in young people's access to SRH services.

# 2.4 A global review – legal barriers to access

This global review of law that affects access to SRH services comprises three sections. The first section reviews access to services including contraception, family planning services, pregnancy care, abortion, STI testing, treatment and others. The second section reviews legislation related to the protection and promotion of sexual freedom and equality (a fundamental part of sexual health). The final section reviews laws relating to sexual violence which have a significant impact on access to SRH services both directly and indirectly.

### 2.4.1 Access to services

SRH services vary widely around the world, and encompass many different services and projects. For example, there are over 15 different types of contraception, each with different levels of effectiveness and with different advantages and disadvantages.<sup>40</sup> There are also thousands of laws around the world that determine which contraceptives are available to whom in which contexts and where they are permitted to be distributed.

This review narrows the scope of inquiry to laws concerning **consent to accessing services**; one of the main ways in which states seek to regulate access to SRH services, particularly for young people. During the country-specific case study field research, further consideration will be made as to which services are actually available to those who are legally able to consent.

Access to abortion is one type of service that is regulated by law by all states around the world. Due to the significance of abortion services for ensuring protection and promotion of SRR, and the complex legislation that seeks to restrict and regulate these services, the issue of abortion is dealt with separately in this report, following a review of consent laws that affect access to other SRH services.

## 2.4.1a Consent for accessing contraception and sexual health services

## No minimum age for accessing sexual and reproductive health services

In many countries around the world there is no age restriction for access to SRH services. No parental or other consent is required, although health care providers may contact parents or other authorities where they feel a minor is at risk (discussed below). 41 States in this category include **Austria**, **Denmark**, **Estonia**, **Finland**, **France**, **Hungary**, **Ireland**, **Iceland**, **Luxemburg**, **Portugal**, **Sweden** and the **UK**.

In other countries, the law imposes a minimum age for legally accessing SRH services. For instance, it is reported that in the **Central African Republic**, girls under the age of 18 are prohibited from accessing contraception.<sup>42</sup>

The ability of a young person to lawfully access services is often the result of the absence of an explicit restriction of access (for children or young people) in law. In other cases, a young person's right to access services is positively protected. For example, in the **USA**, all States allow minors to access STI testing and services, though 11 states establish a minimum age (usually 12–14) below which a minor cannot consent.<sup>43</sup> In 19 States, however, this does not include HIV testing.<sup>44</sup> The removal of restrictions for accessing (specifically) *contraception* is a somewhat recent development.<sup>45</sup>

Some laws allow room for discretion in determining whether a young person can receive a service or not. For example, in **South Africa**, a person over 12 years old can consent to an HIV test, and a person under 12 may consent to a test if they are "of sufficient maturity to understand the benefits, risks and social implications of such a test". 46 In the UK, a medical professional may provide SRH services to a child under the age of 16 years, but only in the case that (s)he is satisfied that a number of criteria are met. These criteria are known as the 'Gillick competency and Fraser Guidelines', derived from a 1985 House of Lords case specifically concerning contraception. 47

#### **Fraser Guidelines**

A doctor could proceed to give advice and treatment provided he is satisfied in the following criteria:

- 1 That the girl (although under the age of 16 years of age) will understand his advice;
- 2 That he cannot persuade her to inform her parents or to allow him to inform the parents that she is seeking contraceptive advice;
- **3** That she is very likely to continue having sexual intercourse with or without contraceptive treatment;

- **4** That unless she receives contraceptive advice or treatment her physical or mental health or both are likely to suffer;
- **5** That her best interests require him to give her contraceptive advice, treatment or both without the parental consent.

#### **Gillick Competency**

"...it is not enough that she should understand the nature of the advice which is being given: she must also have a sufficient maturity to understand what is involved."

Even in places where there are no formal or direct legislative barriers related to consent, the law may serve as an indirect barrier to accessing services in practice. This is particularly the case for the contraceptive pill and for emergency contraception. For example, in the **UK**, emergency contraception is only available without prescription to persons over the age of 16 years. As Research has demonstrated that logistical constraints, lack of confidence, a sense of embarrassment or humiliation, and the inability to visit doctors without alerting parents (or other persons in positions of authority over young people), may result in such rules having a disproportionate effect on the willingness of young people to access these services.

Social and cultural norms may influence a service provider to unilaterally decide to refuse a young person a particular service, or to inform their parent(s) or guardian(s). In other cases, law itself designates service providers with the discretion to determine the boundaries of confidentiality for young people. For example, in the **UK**, medical professionals have a positive duty (under a combination of the law and related statutory guidance and guidance issued by professional regulatory bodies) to report cases in certain circumstances where they have concerns for the young person's safety or welfare.<sup>50</sup> On the 'NHS Choices' website, advice to young people about access to contraceptives and confidentiality is provided thus:

Contraceptive services are free and confidential, including for people under 16 years old. This means that the doctor or nurse won't tell your parents, or anyone else, as long as they believe that you're mature enough to understand the information and decisions involved. There are strict guidelines for healthcare professionals who work with people under 16 years. If they believe that there's a risk to your safety and welfare, they may decide to tell your parents.<sup>51</sup>

This, however, may leave young people in a state of uncertainty as to whether confidentiality will be ensured in practice, and as a

result may render them less confident to access services, especially where family and/or community norms are restrictive/ prohibitive regarding young people's sexuality.

# Sexual and reproductive health services available to young people with parental consent

In many contexts, young people may only legally access sexual and reproductive health services with the consent of their parents. Many states set a minimum age for access to SRH services without parental consent. In Buenos Aires Province, Argentina, parental consent is required for any person under the age of 14 years to access these services.<sup>52</sup> In **South Africa**, while a child is able to access contraceptives without parental consent at 12 years of age, the law states that medical advice should be provided together with a medical examination determining whether a specific contraceptive should not be used.<sup>53</sup> In some cases, this is due to legal provisions that directly establish a minimum age for access to SRH services, while in other cases this minimum age is set out by other laws that regulate access to medical service and consent to sexual activity. Finally, in some states, parental consent may only apply to certain services. For example, in **Chile**, minors do not require parental consent for most sexual health services or to access contraception. However, HIV/AIDS tests require parental consent.54

In many states, parental consent is required before a young person can access contraceptive goods and services specifically. These states include **Lithuania** (under 16s), **Poland** (under 18s), **Slovakia** (under 15s), **Peru** (under 18s), **Argentina** (under 14s). Often these rules apply to prescription drugs, as opposed to goods such as condoms which may be available on purchase at retail outlets accessible to young people.

#### Consent to treatment and consent to sexual activity

There is often a distinct lack of clarity in the laws that regulate young people's access to SRH services. In particular, laws that determine the age at which one can consent to sexual activity may complicate (or be interpreted to complicate) laws concerning consent to access SRH services. For example, in 2006, the government of **Peru** amended Article 173(3) of its Criminal Code reportedly to protect young people from sexual abuse and violence, particularly sexual abuse committed by an adult against a minor.55 However, the law also criminalised consensual sexual activity among adolescents between 14 and 18 years old, for which they could have received up to 30 years in prison.<sup>56</sup> In their submissions to the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, a group of NGOs, including IPPF, highlighted that this law (although ostensibly concerned with the age of consent to sexual activity) negatively impacted on adolescents' access to SRH services and stigma surrounding sexual activity of young people. In particular, "the law left medical practitioners unclear of the treatment they should provide to adolescents ... even jeopardizing pre-natal checkups, public institutional deliveries as

the pregnancy is the evidence of the crime".<sup>57</sup> One young woman reportedly explained: "I was frightened to go to the hospital because I was scared [the government] would take away my baby or send me to communal housing where I could no longer care for him".<sup>58</sup>

The **UK** provides an example of legislation that attempts to provide more clarity on how to interpret young people's right to access SRH services in the light of laws on the age of consent to sexual activity. Section 73 of the Sexual Offences Act 2003 provides exceptions to the crime of aiding, abetting or counselling certain sexual offences against children where the person was acting to protect the child from an STI, protect their physical safety, protect them from becoming pregnant, or promote their emotional well-being by the giving of advice, provided that it was not carried out for the purpose of obtaining sexual gratification or causing or encouraging the offensive activity.<sup>59</sup> This provision can, in effect, exempt doctors from criminal liability for prescribing children under the age of consent with contraceptives should they ask for them, provided that the doctor is acting to protect the child's health under the conditions set out by the law.

#### SRH services only available to married people

In some states, the law prohibits the supply of contraceptives to *unmarried* women and/or men. One way in which such laws are constructed is for legislation to enshrine a right to contraception and family planning services, but only to mention married couples as recipients of such a right, such as is the case in **Indonesia**. There are also reports in **Argentina** that unmarried women have been denied access to family planning services on the basis that, as they are unmarried, they do not have a spouse to provide the necessary spousal consent.

There are references in online sources to African countries only making family planning services available to married couples, although the number of such sources is limited. Given the lack of specific laws or policies on this issue, it is possible that these are contexts where informal convention or practice or customary legal principles are more significant in determining an individual's access to SRH services than formal, statutory law.

Interestingly, it is only as recently as 1972 that the **USA** made contraception legally available on the same terms to unmarried people as married ones.<sup>63</sup>

#### Availability of contraception with spousal consent

In some states, such as **Saudi Arabia**, traditional practice requires that women seek consent from a male spouse or guardian before decisions about health care, including accessing contraception and family planning services, are made.<sup>64</sup> In **Bahrain**, women are legally required to have their husband's consent should they wish to be sterilised and (perhaps more surprisingly) if they wish to undergo a caesarean section delivery (unless the surgery is urgent

or if the husband is absent).<sup>65</sup> They are, however, legally permitted to access contraception without spousal consent although spousal consent and religious advice is often sought in practice.<sup>66</sup>

Indeed, through this desk research, it has been difficult to obtain accurate information indicating where the requirement of spousal consent to access SRH services is the result of a legal obligation and where this is a matter of social custom. Many reviewed documents have been found to be contradictory and to contain an ambiguous blending of law and practice. In the case of Senegal, one source from 2001 claims that, "[u]se of contraceptives often depends upon the spouse's formal or tacit agreement"67 but this review was unable to find a definitive reference to a specific legal rule setting out this requirement. Further, as of 2002, Niger and **Rwanda** reportedly required spousal consent for voluntary sterilisation, although it is not clear whether this restriction still applies today and whether it is/was imposed by law.68 The lack of clarity and attention given to the difference in law and practice relating to this aspect of SRH is an important finding in itself, and one that it would be highly interesting to explore during the field research.

The review has noted a suggested gender imbalance in consent rules: laws may require a woman to obtain consent from her husband to access certain services, but not necessarily the other way around. This is an issue that should be looked at more carefully in the in-depth country case studies and during the field research. Are there contexts where a man must seek his wife's consent before accessing a vasectomy (for example)? More clarity on these issues would assist researchers to understand whether these types of laws are rooted in a notion that women lack capacity to make reasonable and appropriate decisions about such issues, an attempt to control women's sexuality, or whether the promotion of joint decision making is a significant factor.

#### Other factors that influence access to services

**Cost and availability of service:** In some countries, law and policy provides that access to (certain types of) SRH services are free. In others, no such provisions exist, and these services may be costly. High costs associated with accessing SRH services are likely to affect young people disproportionately; young people are less likely to be in positions of financial independence compared to older people, and may have difficulties paying for SRH services without parental or spousal support (which may not be available).

In **Peru**, for example, public funding is specifically not provided for emergency contraception making the service only available to better off members of society and less accessible to young people in general.<sup>69</sup> This is likely to be the result of a deliberate policy to limit access to emergency contraception.

Even where services are provided for free it may be that the difficulty or delay in actually obtaining them makes private, paid

for services the only option. In **Poland** it is reported that crucial, time dependent antenatal services often have such lengthy waiting lists that private health services are the only sensible option resulting in some paying and some not obtaining access.<sup>70</sup>

The actual outcome of polices that require the free provision of contraceptive goods and sexual and reproductive health services is further complicated by commodity shortages. In **Peru** there is reported to be a constant shortage of 'modern contraceptives, including pills, injections and emergency contraception'.<sup>71</sup> It is also reported that 'although family planning services are free, [there is] a constant of undue and illicit charges' being made by medical centres.<sup>72</sup> In **Senegal**, where access to sexual health medical centres is legal in spite of the reluctance of such centres to admit adolescents,<sup>73</sup> access is further inhibited by the reportedly high cost of accessing quality medical care.<sup>74</sup> This high cost, driven in part by a shortage of trained medical staff, is a contributing factor to Senegal's high maternal mortality and morbidity rate.

Even where laws regulating access to SRH services are broadly liberal and permissive, access may be compromised in practice due to a lack of affordable care. For example, whilst the Medical Termination of Pregnancy Act, 1971 in India, permits abortion on the grounds of health, many women in **India** continue to access unsafe abortion services.<sup>75</sup> This compares to **Nepal**, where legislation legalising abortion is understood to have contributed to the reduction in maternal mortality by 50% in the last decade, as it has been accompanied by an effort to ensure the availability of safe and affordable family planning care including abortion.<sup>76</sup>

Encouragingly, awareness of the problems caused by charging for SRH services is becoming more widespread, with countries all over the world introducing new laws to extend access to those without the means to pay. For instance, in 2004, **Colombia**'s Ministry of Social Protection issued Circular No. 18, which outlines goals, activities, and standards for the delivery of primary health-care services. The circular specifically addresses adolescents' access to contraception and requires the provision of emergency contraception to uninsured adolescents living in communities that are displaced, economically disadvantaged, and at risk.<sup>77</sup>

**Freedom of movement:** Even if a young person is able to legally access contraceptive goods and SRH, in some contexts a young person (particularly women and girls) may not be able to leave the house without their husband's or parents' permission. For example in **Morocco** it is reported that despite the unrestricted right of women to consent to their own family planning in practice, because women are often subject to a degree of traditional male control over their movements, they may need the consent of their husbands or male guardians to visit a doctor or go to the hospital.<sup>78</sup>

Awareness of services and rights: Even where services are legally accessible to young people, poor education and awareness may mean that people are unaware of their existence or how to access them. For instance in **China**, the National Family Planning Programme targets married couples (for awareness-raising and information provision). This means that young unmarried people often lack access to information or advice regarding contraception. Research conducted in **Yemen**, for example, has found that few women are aware of their legal right to use contraception, and even fewer are in a position to make free and independent choices about their reproductive health. It is reported that in rural areas, provision of healthcare in general is very poor, including SRH healthcare, leading to very high rates of maternal mortality. Childbirth is the leading cause of death among women of reproductive age.<sup>80</sup>

#### Conclusions and further points for consideration

Law relating to the medical treatment of adolescents is generally vague and confusing. In many cases laws appear to be drafted without consideration of children, and the situation for under-18s or people under the age of majority is unspecified or unclear. This leaves a wide margin for healthcare providers to interpret the law, such that young people are in an uncertain position and may be subject to arbitrary or inconsistent imposition of restrictions. This is an issue that needs to be explored in more detail in the field research. Preliminary findings from this review suggest that more work needs to be done to help states draft legislation and guidelines for service providers that is explicit in intent and inclusive of young people, to avoid the unintended outcomes of vague and unclear legal provisions.

#### 2.4.1b Access to abortion

This section considers how different jurisdictions around the world regulate access to legal (induced) abortion for young people. The analysis considers how young people's access to abortion may be affected by law in the following three ways:

- Restrictions on the circumstances in which an abortion is permitted
- Laws that govern who can consent to abortion
- Laws that regulate the cost of abortion.

This is followed by a quick summary of other barriers to accessing abortion, that interact with abortion law, to compromise access to abortion (particularly for young girls) in practice.

In general, detailed, current, collated information about abortion laws around the world is limited. Even UN state profiles often fail to mention key aspects of a state's legal position, and, crucially, many sources neglect to include details of the consent arrangement for minors, or (un)married women or girls. However, a comprehensive mapping by the Center for Reproductive Rights

demonstrates broadly the range of laws and regulations on abortion around the world.<sup>81</sup>

#### A. Circumstances in which abortion is permitted

The circumstances in which abortion is allowed vary considerably in different jurisdictions around the world, ranging from states where there is a total prohibition on abortion, to states where abortion is 'available on request' within a restricted gestational period.

#### Abortion 'on request'

Roughly a quarter of states around the world permit abortion 'on request' within a restricted gestational period.<sup>82</sup> In some of these jurisdictions a woman/girl is not required to justify her decision to have an abortion, however, in some contexts she may be required to state that she is in a situation of distress or crisis.<sup>83</sup> Further, there are often additional procedural requirements which functionally limit the availability of abortion in practice, including waiting periods, third-party consent or authorisation, mandatory counselling, limited categories of health care workers permitted to perform abortions, and limited medical facilities where abortions may take place.<sup>84</sup>

Jurisdictions which permit abortion on request are numerous and include 69% of developed countries.85 However, in many of these jurisdictions, abortion is only available in the early weeks of pregnancy. Examples of states that permit abortion on request include: Austria, Australia, Belgium, France, Germany, Netherland, Switzerland, USA, South Africa, Turkey, China, Mongolia, North Korea, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Nepal, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Cambodia, Singapore, Vietnam, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Georgia, Belarus, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Slovakia, Ukraine, Denmark, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Sweden, Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Greece, Italy, Macedonia, Montenegro, Portugal, Serbia, Slovenia, Spain. Largely absent in this category are African, Arab, Caribbean and South American states with the exception of Cape Verde, Tunisia, Cuba and Uruguay.86

States in this category tend to have better contraceptive provision, and often have *lower* levels of abortion than countries where these services are heavily restricted.<sup>87</sup>

#### Abortion allowed for economic or social reasons

In practice, laws in this category can be nearly as permissive as 'on request' abortion laws. However, they give a higher level of discretion to doctors to decide if abortion is permissible, and place a heavier onus on the woman/girl to justify her decision to abort.

In practice, assessments as to whether abortion is permissible in a given circumstance may be highly subjective, and involve a complex, and a (potentially) non-transparent balancing of different considerations. For example, in **Belize**, 'economic and social considerations' are considered as part of a broader examination on the effect that carrying a foetus to term would have on a woman's health.<sup>88</sup> Furthermore, the 'justification' requirement is likely to influence broader social norms about the acceptability of abortion in general, and the circumstances in which it may be a 'legitimate' option. This issue would be very interesting to explore during the field research.

Other states which fall into this category include the **Japan**, **Mexico** and **India**.<sup>89</sup>

According to an analysis of 'World Abortion Policies' conducted in 2011 by the Population Division of the Department of Economic and Social Affairs, the **UK** falls into the category of countries which permit abortion for 'social and economic reasons'.90 The law in the UK, however, focuses primarily on physical and mental health justifications.91

### **UK Abortion Act 1967**

Section 1 of the Abortion Act 1967 states that a registered medical practitioner may lawfully terminate a pregnancy, in an NHS hospital or on premises approved for this purpose, if two registered medical practitioners are of the opinion that:

- (a) the pregnancy has not exceeded its 24th week and that the continuance of the pregnancy would involve risk, greater than if the pregnancy were terminated, of injury to the physical or mental health of the pregnant woman or any existing children of her family;
- (b) the termination is necessary to prevent grave permanent injury to the physical or mental health of the pregnant woman;
- (c) the continuance of the pregnancy would involve risk to the life of the pregnant woman, greater that if the pregnancy were terminated; or
- (d) there is a substantial risk that if the child were born it would suffer from such physical or mental abnormalities as to be seriously handicapped.

The Abortion Act 1967 has a conscientious objection clause (Section 4) which permits a doctor to refuse to participate in terminations if he or she has a conscientious objection to performing an abortion, but which obliges the doctor to provide necessary treatment in an emergency when the woman's life may be jeopardised. The right to conscientiously object is limited to an objector who had to be required to actually take part in administering treatment in a hospital or approved centre. This seems to support the view that general practitioners cannot claim exemption from giving advice or performing the preparatory steps to arrange an abortion if the request for abortion meets the legal requirements. Such steps include referral to another doctor as appropriate. Section 4 is often cited as the reason why some doctors do not perform abortions on minors, in particular young adults under the age of 16.

#### Abortion permitted to preserve a woman's health

In the majority of states around the world abortion is permitted (at least) in order to preserve the health of a pregnant woman or girl. 92 The definition of 'health' varies widely between different jurisdictions. The laws of some states are broadly open to interpretation; others will list specific conditions/thresholds that must be met. In some states such as **Burundi**, **Mozambique**, **Rwanda**, **Uganda**, **Zambia**, **Nigeria**, **Sierra Leone**, **Malaysia** and **Saudi Arabia**, health is defined to include mental health. In others, such as **Lao PDR**, the **Maldives**, **Panama** and **Togo**, abortion is only permitted where it is a risk to the mother's physical health. 93

#### Abortion to save the life of the woman

In many countries around the world abortion is only permitted in circumstances where carrying a pregnancy to term is understood to be life-threatening for a woman/girl. Arab and African countries are strongly represented in this group which includes states such as Haiti, Malawi, Angola, Congo, Gabon, Niger, Bangladesh, Iran, Syria, Egypt, Sudan, Senegal and Ireland. 94 Whilst many of these laws are driven by religious or moral convictions, justifications do vary. For instance, in Gabon, abortion is restricted, along with other family planning services, at least partly due to government concerns about the country's falling fertility and population growth rates. 95

#### Abortion allowed due to foetal impairment

States that extend to circumstances in which abortion is allowed to include foetal impairment are **Botswana**, **Columbia**, **Ethiopia**, **Ghana**, **Guinea**, **Liberia**, **Seychelles**, and **Swaziland**, amongst others.<sup>96</sup>

#### Abortion allowed in cases of rape or incest

Many states extend circumstances under which abortion is permitted to include cases of rape or incest.<sup>97</sup>

The potential complication, delay and stigma involved in proving a case for abortion on these grounds may, in practice, significantly inhibit a survivor's access to abortion on this basis, particularly in the case of the rape of a minor. For example, in **Panama**, an abortion can only take place in circumstances where it has been identified as the consequence of the event of rape which has been detailed in Court proceedings. Detailing the circumstances of a rape is likely to be a humiliating and traumatic process for a survivor of sexual violence; and this vulnerability is often accentuated in cases where the survivor is a young person.

Furthermore, there may be complications around ensuring confidentiality, and onerous procedural requirements may limit the availability of abortion (even where the legal condition is met) in practice. In **Bolivia** (as in many other states in this category) criminal action (for rape) must be pursued for this ground to apply, and until recently, abortion has required judicial consent.<sup>99</sup> Even for victims who are willing to go through proceedings, given the delays imposed by legal processes, by the time a legal decision is made it may be too late for the victim to get an abortion. Given low conviction and reporting rates surrounding rape and sexual abuse,<sup>100</sup> this will mean that a limited number of rape victims are able to access abortion. Indeed, the difficulty and delay in establishing this has resulted in only a very small number of legal abortions in **Bolivia**.<sup>101</sup>

This was exhibited in a case in **Poland** where a 14 year old rape victim struggled to access abortion services from resistant service providers, and was mistreated and poorly served by medical practitioners. Though abortion is legal in cases of rape in **Poland**, the medical practitioners invoked conscientious objection and presented misinformation to avoid delivering services. This was likely more intense because the victim was a minor; she was accused of being pressured by her mother into seeking an abortion. The case was brought to the European Court of Human Rights, which found that where a woman is entitled to an abortion the state must guarantee that she is able to access one. The court also found that, "states must respect adolescents' person autonomy in the sphere of reproductive health". 103

#### Abortion not allowed in any circumstances

There are a limited number of states in which abortion is not allowed on any grounds, including **Chile**, **Dominican Republic**, **El Salvador**, **Nicaragua**, and **Malta**. <sup>104</sup> <sup>105</sup> States in this category tend to have significant or majority populations of Roman Catholics. Many of these states are signatories to the Inter-American Convention on Human Rights, a largely South and Central American human rights instrument in which Article 4.1 states that the right to life begins at conception. <sup>106</sup>

In practice, this does not necessarily reduce rates of abortion in these jurisdictions, it does, however, compromise access to safe abortion, particularly for young people. 107 In the **Dominican Republic**, for example, despite a total prohibition on abortion, abortions are performed in private clinics as well as more clandestine and unsafe circumstances. 108 Such an environment makes access to financial resources a key element of accessing safe abortion. As young people often lack financial independence this has serious implications for both the autonomy and privacy of their access.

#### B. Laws of consent to abortion

# Parental permission needed for those under the age of majority

In many states, although abortion is legal, those under the age of majority require parental consent to access an abortion. These states include **Iceland** (under 16s), **Italy** (under 18s), **Poland** (under 16s), **Slovakia** (under 16s), **Turkey** (under 18s), **and Cuba** (under 18s) amongst others.<sup>109</sup> This provision by definition means that young people are unable to act autonomously and have their confidentiality protected.<sup>110</sup> It creates an additional barrier affecting young people's ability to access legal abortion, and has the potential to place some young people at risk (depending on the values and attitudes of their family environment).

# No age restriction but spousal/family permission needed at all ages

In these states, abortion is legal but consent is required from the spouse or family members regardless of age. By nature of the parental/spousal involvement, the service fundamentally lacks confidentiality, and compromises women and girls' ability to make an autonomous choice.<sup>111</sup> This may particularly limit access to abortion for young women and girls, who may have relatively less capacity to assert their independent wishes than older women. These states include the **Faroe Island, Maldives, Togo, Japan** (where the spouse is available) and **Saudi Arabia** amongst others.<sup>112</sup> In **Turkey** spousal consent is required for abortions taking place past the 10th week.<sup>113</sup>

#### No age restriction but adult support required

In these states, abortion is legal for young people, even those under the age of majority, without their parents' permission; however they must be accompanied by an adult of their own choosing. Such states include **France** amongst others.<sup>114</sup> In **Cuba** permission for abortion for under-16s is required from both parents and local medical councils.<sup>115</sup>

#### No age restriction, no parental permission required

In many states abortion is legal for young people, even those under the age of majority, without their parents' permission. Their parents will only be informed without their consent, subject to exceptions where the doctor believes that the young person

is at risk. States in this category include the  $\bf UK$  (if the Gillick competency requirements are met),  $\bf New\ Zealand$  and some states in the  $\bf USA.^{116}$ 

#### **Forced abortion**

Not considered in detail here but relevant to the topic and of great importance is young people's right to not be forced to undergo an abortion

In **China**, for instance, the Government, under the One-Child Policy, has introduced considerable and, for many, unaffordable financial levies for having a second child.<sup>117</sup> Given widespread poverty in China, the result is to deprive many women of a real choice as to whether to terminate their pregnancy or not. This law has also provided an environment in which local family planning officials acting beyond their official remit have been implicated in coercive and aggressive demands for termination.<sup>118</sup> Where present, such laws represent a comparable restriction of young people's reproductive and contraceptive freedom as laws limiting their access to such services.

Forced abortion may also occur in the case where a pregnant woman is deemed not to have the mental capacity to consent to abortion, and a guardian is given the right to consent on her behalf. This nearly resulted in a forced abortion in the **US** state of Massachusetts, where, in a controversial ruling, the judge awarded guardianship for the purpose of consenting to abortion to the parents of a 31-year-old woman suffering from delusions and schizophrenia, despite the fact that the woman, who claimed to be Catholic, opposed the abortion. However an appeals court overturned the ruling.<sup>119</sup>

#### C. Laws concerning cost of abortion

As mentioned above, given that young people around the world often lack financial independence, where abortion requires the payment of a fee, there is likely to be a disproportionate increase in barriers to access for young people. <sup>120</sup> Even where abortion is provided free of charge, different healthcare provision models may result in different outcomes for a young person's autonomy and privacy. Further research might consider whether countries where healthcare is provided (for instance, through a private insurance policy controlled by a parent) suffer from a restriction in privacy or control of access.

#### States where abortion incurs a fee

In many states, health care, including abortion access, is not provided for free. In some states a distinction is made between abortion for medical reasons, and other reasons. For example in **Estonia**, abortion is more expensive for a client when it is not understood to be necessary on medical grounds.<sup>121</sup> In **Finland**, whilst the abortion itself is covered by national health insurance, clients must pay for their hospital fees.<sup>122</sup>

#### States where abortion is provided free of charge

In the **UK**, **Netherlands**, **Italy**, **Finland** and **South Africa** abortion is free of charge to all residents.<sup>123</sup> <sup>124</sup> In **Cyprus** and **Germany** abortion is means tested providing that those on low incomes can access abortion.<sup>125</sup> Significantly in **France**, abortion is provided free of charge to minors.<sup>126</sup>

## D. Other potential barriers to abortion access for young people

It is useful to briefly review other barriers which impact on young people's access to SRH services in order to understand how these may interact with legal barriers, or impact on young people's perceptions of them.

#### **Bureaucracy**

In some states the procedure for obtaining abortion services involves multiple steps and appointments presenting difficulties to young people who may have limited access to transportation and limited ability to travel independently of their parents. In **New Zealand**, for instance, a woman may have to travel to a second site to get a second certifying consultant's signature prior to going to a hospital or clinic.<sup>127</sup>

#### Counselling services

Many states offer women some form of counselling before and/or after having an abortion. In some **US** states (e.g. Texas) counselling is compulsory.<sup>128</sup> Whilst the process of counselling is usually required to be provided without judgement or bias (e.g. **New Zealand**<sup>129</sup>), there is scope for individuals with particular religious or political positions on abortion to use counselling as a forum to promote their agenda. There is an additional concern that counselling may not take into account the unique needs of young people. For these reasons (especially in contexts where counselling is compulsory) the process could be distressing for women and girls, particularly those that are young. This is a question that would be interesting to explore during field research.

#### Willingness of doctors to provide abortions

Even where abortion is legal, availability of abortion services can be restricted in practice, due to attitudes of doctors who are legally allowed to refuse to personally perform abortions on the grounds of 'conscientious objection'.<sup>130</sup> In **Bolivia**, for example, a judge ordered an abortion for a 12 year old girl raped by her stepfather but even with permission granted it took weeks to find a medical centre willing to perform the procedure.<sup>131</sup>

A recent survey by the Journal of Medical Ethics of the opinions of medical students in the **UK** found that almost half believe doctors should be allowed to refuse to perform any procedure to which they object on moral, cultural or religious grounds. Abortion provoked the strongest feelings among the 733 medical students surveyed: "the survey revealed that almost a third of students

would not perform an abortion for a congenitally malformed foetus after 24 weeks, a quarter would not perform an abortion for failed contraception before 24 weeks and a fifth would not perform an abortion on a minor who was the victim of rape". 132

#### Waiting periods

Some states require women of all ages to wait a certain number of days between an initial consultation and any subsequent abortion. For example, the **Netherlands** has a 5 day waiting period, and **Germany** 3 days.<sup>133</sup> In the **USA**, 26 states have introduced laws requiring women to wait a specified period of time, usually 24 hours, between when she receives counselling and the procedure is performed.<sup>134</sup> The introduction of these laws has caused considerable controversy, particularly in the recent case of Utah where last year a 72 hour waiting period was introduced.<sup>135</sup>

Whilst countries such as the **UK** do not have a compulsory waiting period provided in law, the consequence of abortion being provided for free through the limited resources of the National Health Service, is that there is often a waiting period of considerable length simply to get an appointment. This period of wait can be distressing for women and girls, and the physical consequences of pregnancy may interrupt education and other activities.

#### **Prohibitions on frequency**

Some countries limit the frequency with which a woman can have an abortion. For instance, in **Slovakia** a woman may not legally have an abortion unless a minimum of 6 months has passed since last having one.<sup>137</sup>

#### E. Punishments for illegal abortion

Penalties that are imposed for illegal abortion vary widely between states. In some states, e.g. **Bolivia**, it is the doctor/practitioner performing the abortion who is penalised.<sup>138</sup> In other states, more heavy-handed laws punish both women/girls seeking abortions and all those involved in assisting her.

Different types of laws that impose penalties, such as fines or jail time, for abortion are likely to impact on access in different ways. For example, laws that impose a penalty on the abortion provider are likely to raise the cost of accessing abortion (as the risk of prosecution is factored into the cost). Laws that impose penalties on women may directly impact on abortion-seeking behaviour (although, as mentioned, evidence shows that restrictive laws do not in practice reduce the numbers of abortions being performed). Women might choose to seek out particularly clandestine services regardless of safety, and such laws may discourage the likelihood that the woman will seek help for any subsequent complications that result.

A particularly problematic development in several countries is the use of abortion laws, or even homicide provisions, to prosecute women for 'spontaneous abortions' (miscarriages). This has occurred in **El Salvador**, one of the few countries in the world in which abortion is illegal under all circumstances, where numerous women have been imprisoned on charges of illegal abortion and even homicide after having miscarried. 139 Similarly, the US state of Utah recently passed a law which states that "the killing or attempted killing of a live unborn child in a manner that is not abortion shall be punished as ... criminal homicide" and establishes the standard that the death of an unborn child which results from "intentional, knowing or reckless act of the woman" is punishable as criminal homicide.<sup>140</sup> This effectively makes a woman criminally liable for having a miscarriage if she knows she is pregnant. We hope to explore the direct and indirect impact of extreme provisions such of these on young people's access over the course of the research.

#### **F. Conclusions**

This review reveals that almost all states around the world intend to prescribe normative ideas about abortion through their law. This is clearly the case even for states that fall into the 'abortion on request' category. For example, compulsory waiting periods enforced in states such as **Germany** and the **Netherlands**, impose the normative position that abortion is a 'big decision' and, therefore, time *must* be taken to think about it carefully. The **UK** falls into the category of states where abortion is available either for health or for social and economic reasons. Whilst, in practice, there may appear to be very little difference in the availability of abortion in the **UK** compared to states in the 'abortion on request' category, it is significant that, according to law, abortion is not a matter of individual *right* or *choice*, but rather something that is rendered necessary under particular (unfortunate) circumstances.

In the majority of states around the world abortion is only permitted under very limited circumstances.<sup>141</sup>

In states where there is a total prohibition on abortion, this appears to largely derive from the absolute religious and moral position that human life begins at conception. It is significant, however, that this group only comprises a tiny fraction of states. A much wider number of states (the majority in the world) permit some abortions, but only in very specific circumstances: such as where the pregnancy threatens the mothers' health, or where the pregnancy has resulted from rape or incest. These laws are likely to be the result of a more complex process of moral reasoning, which involves balancing a variety of different concerns and interests. During the field research it would be interesting to gather young people's perspectives on these laws, to understand how they are interpreted and the grounds on which they are justified.

It is widely evidenced that strict abortion laws do not consistently translate into a reduction in the number of abortions. For example, in Africa and Latin America (regions where abortion is illegal under most circumstances in the majority of countries), abortion rates are estimated at 29 to 32 per 1,000 women of childbearing age in Africa and Latin America. (142 Comparatively in Western Europe, where abortion is generally permitted on relatively broader ground, the abortion rate is 12 per 1,000 women.

In addition, liberalisation of abortion laws may not always improve access. For example, in **Cambodia** concerns about the high level of fatalities in illegal abortion lead to a 1997 law allowing abortion on request. Despite this change in law actual improvement in access remains limited due to a shortage of trained medical staff capable of performing the operation.<sup>144</sup>

Nevertheless, strict prohibitions on abortion are likely to impact on abortion seeking behaviour by encouraging individuals to turn to clandestine or unsafe services. In some states, concerns about health care problems caused by illegal abortion have led to a liberalisation in abortion law. **Barbados** is one of many states that initiated dramatic change of its law in response to large scale public health problems caused by dangerous illegal abortion.<sup>145</sup> **Nepal** provides an example of a country where liberal abortion laws have contributed to decreases in maternal morbidity and mortality. In 2002, the law was changed to allow all women access to legal abortion up to 12 weeks of gestation and up to 18 weeks for pregnancies resulting from rape or incest.<sup>146</sup> Since 2005, the maternal mortality ratio has halved in Nepal and since the law's introduction, the number of abortion-related complications recorded has also halved.<sup>147</sup>

The circumstances in which young people may need abortion services have different characteristics to those of adults. Young people may be less inclined to admit they're pregnant, more susceptible to external influence, less sure of their actions, less quick to realise they are pregnant, less independent both financially and in terms of their ability to leave their parents' company and fearful of family and societal reaction if they have become pregnant in taboo circumstances. For all these reasons laws that limit time frames, circumstances, autonomy, privacy, and affordability of services are likely to disproportionately affect the sexual health of young people.

### 2.4.2 Sexual freedom, equality and consent

The first principle of 'Sexual Rights: An IPPF Declaration' affirms the principle (enshrined in international human rights law) that the freedom to express ones sexuality is a fundamental part of personhood: "sexual rights are universal human rights based on the inherent freedom, dignity and equality of all human beings". 148

States have an obligation to individuals within their jurisdictions to protect their right to freely express their sexuality; this obligation has two essential components: the negative liberty to be free from state prosecution and the positive liberty to be protected from harassment and attack on the basis of one's sexuality or sexual activity.<sup>149</sup>

The ability to freely express one's sexuality is directly linked to sexual and reproductive health and access to services. In states where particular sexual identities or modes of behaviour are restricted, young people may be at risk of punishment, persecution or prosecution potentially exposing them to severe physical and mental harm. This harm may be the result of direct attack, correctional punishment or other 'treatment', 150 or the indirect effect of living a life of fear and repression. Access to services may be restricted either because the young person is afraid that their sexual identity may be revealed through contact with medical services, or because facilities are only available for married individuals (either through law or custom). Furthermore, individuals with homosexual or transgendered identity may have difficulty accessing sexual health education and information about services.

#### 2.4.2a Law and LGBTI identity

Many states around the world seek to control the gender and sexual identity of individuals within their jurisdictions through a number of direct and indirect legal measures. It is beyond the scope of this review to consider all types of law that seek to describe and prescribe constructions of gender; in this section, however, we consider one of the most direct ways that states seek to regulate sexual expression: through the prohibition of specific forms of sexual activity.

#### Direct prohibitions on male same-sex sexual activity

Male homosexual acts are currently specifically prohibited in the legislation of 78 countries around the world.<sup>151</sup>

- 37 (almost half) of these states are in Africa, including Angola, Botswana, Cameroon, Egypt, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria, Senegal, Somalia, Uganda and Zimbabwe.
- 21 such states are in Asia including Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Kuwait, Iran, Lebanon, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, Syria and Yemen.
- In Oceania there are 11 states in this category including Nauru, Papua New Guinea, Samoa and Solomon Islands.
- The 5 remaining territories include **Gaza**, **South Sumatra** and the **Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus**.

The 'offence' of same-sex male activity is framed in different ways in different states, although the outcome is broadly the same. In some states the offence specifically prohibits certain physical acts such as sodomy (e.g. **Malaysia**). These definitions appear to cover heterosexual acts of the same nature, but in practice they

are only likely to be applied to same-sex couples. In other states (e.g. **Swaziland**) sexual acts are prohibited explicitly when they are enacted between two males: "sexual intercourse per anus between two human males". Prohibitions in other states are framed more generally; for example **Egyptian** law prohibits 'shameless public acts' which include a wider category of sexual offences but have been regularly and successfully used to prosecute gay men. 154

#### Direct prohibitions on female same-sex sexual activity

Lesbian activity is illegal in at least 49 states. Definitions of the crime vary, but usually focus on genital contact between two females. **Iranian** law, for instance, states that "lesbianism is homosexuality of women by genitals". Laws in many jurisdictions do not explicitly prohibit lesbianism, but more general rules have or may be used to prohibit lesbian acts. In **Botswana** lesbians have been convicted through judicial interpretation of the offence committed by anybody who "has carnal knowledge of any person against the order of nature". 157

It is significant that many jurisdictions that previously had, or continue to have, prohibitions on male homosexuality never criminalised lesbian activity (e.g. Ghana, Lesotho, Mauritius, Namibia, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Swaziland, Zambia, Zimbabwe, Bangladesh, Brunei, Gaza, India, Indonesia, Kuwait, Pakistan, Singapore, Turkmenistan, Grenada, Guyana, Jamaica, Kiribati, Nauru and Tonga amongst others). 158 This is reflective of the fact that lesbian sex does not appear to have been widely considered or acknowledged within law. Whilst lesbians in such contexts may not suffer the same direct legal persecution that men may suffer, these provisions are likely to be both reflective and prescriptive of strong gender-based prejudice, which may also serve to increase their vulnerability to sexual violence. They mirror the lesser visibility of women and girls in legal and public life generally, and the particular lack of visibility and legal/social status of lesbian women. Significantly, there are no countries in the world where lesbian activity is illegal but gay sexual activity is legal.

### Legal penalties for homosexuality

Penalties for violating prohibitions on same-sex activity usually involve a prison sentence, ranging from 2 months in **Algeria** to 10 years (maximum sentence) in **Ethiopia**. Minimum sentences are a common feature in sexuality laws, reflecting the severity with which the state regards these types of sentences. Other penalties include: 160

- The imposition of fines;
- Banishment from the state (in the **Maldives** men may be banished for 9–12 months for engaging in homosexual acts. In **Saudi Arabia** unmarried men engaged in homosexual activity may be banished for 12 months);
- In some countries (such as in Saudi Arabia) corporal punishment is imposed. This form of penalty might be

particularly likely to be applied to lesbians. For example in **Nigeria**, the penalty for gay men is death but for lesbians is whipping. Women have also reportedly been whipped in the Maldives for same-sex activity;

- In some states, notably **Mozambique**, homosexuals' sentences may include a prohibition on their former economic activity;
- In the **Maldives** lesbians can be punished with house arrest;
- Some states, such as Mozambique and Sao Tome and Principle, may sentence individuals to a period in a labour camp. This law is remnant of Portuguese colonial regulation;
- In some countries convicted homosexuals are confined for a period within a mental health hospital (e.g. Mozambique).
- In ten states homosexuality is punishable by the death penalty (Iran, Iraq Mozambique, Nigeria, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, United Arab Emirates, Uganda, the southern states of Somalia and Yemen).
- In countries where there are both secular and religious laws/courts (e.g. **Pakistan**) a person charged with the crime of homosexuality might face separate secular and Islamic punishments.<sup>161</sup>

#### Insufficient protection for persons of homosexual identity

Many states in the world violate individuals' SRR by failing to take reasonable measures to protect individuals from gender-based harassment and attack. In some states, despite high reported incidents by relevant NGOs, governments have failed to officially monitor crime rates for homophobic hate crimes. Poor reporting of incidents leads to assumptions that homophobia is not a serious problem and results in states' failure to allocated sufficient resources to the protection of homosexuals. For example in **Brazil**, despite gender activists reporting a homophobic murder every two days, the Government does not record such incidents as hate crimes perpetrated on the grounds of sexuality, and scant resources are dedicated to preventing such crimes. 162 Similarly in **South Africa**, corrective rape (the rape of lesbians to 'turn them straight') incidents are not separated from general rape in Government reporting. 163

Persecution or lack of action on the part of law enforcement personnel, inadequate training, unwillingness of prosecutors to bring cases, inadequate hate crime legislation and a failure to provide security on the streets are all common features of most states' failure to protect and promote freedom of sexuality within their borders.

#### Law and transsexualism/transgender identity

According to a study by Transgender Europe, out of the 72 countries selected for the study across the world, legal change of gender was found to be possible in 31 of them. 164 With the exception of **Argentina** and **India**, a psychological diagnosis is required before gender can be legally changed. 165 Additionally in most cases gender reassignment surgery or sterilisation is required for legal gender recognition. Other restrictions may also apply;

some states require that an individual wishing to legally change their gender has never been married and has no children. In other states legal marriages may be invalidated after a change of gender (e.g. the **United States**). 166

**Argentina** has recently become an example of a state pioneering best practice in this area of law. Last year a new federal law was adopted allowing for gender to be self-defined and state-recognised without any medicalisation or pathologisation.<sup>167</sup>

A number of states criminalise transsexual identity. For example, in **Malaysia** sex reassignment surgery is prohibited for anyone who is not intersex.<sup>168</sup> Others pursue policies to limit and control transsexualism; in **Thailand**, sexual reassignment treatment is not covered in the government medical plan.<sup>169</sup> In **Algeria** and **Chile** transgenderism is legally classified as an illness.<sup>170</sup> Furthermore, in a number of countries, despite the fact that transsexualism is not criminalized, trans people have been prosecuted under laws that were designed for other purposes, for example prostitution. This has been the case in several states in Africa, Asia as well as in Central and South America and in one state in Europe; **Turkey**.<sup>171</sup>

In other countries sex reassignment surgery is considered a right. In an important step in 2007, a panel of judges in **Brazil** ruled that the public health system should provide sex reassignment surgery without charge.<sup>172</sup> The state of **Cuba** also allows sex reassignment surgery in 'appropriate' cases.<sup>173</sup>

Legal restrictions on gender reassignment treatment frequently make treatments unavailable to people under the age of eighteen, if they are available at all.<sup>174</sup> In the small number of countries which offer treatment to young people with gender dysphoria under the age of sixteen (the **Netherlands**, **Canada**, **Australia**, **Germany**, **UK** and **USA**), consent from both their legal guardian and physician is required.<sup>175</sup> In **Australia**, additional consent must be sought from the courts, the cost of which is borne by the family themselves.<sup>176</sup> In the **UK** only a handful of young people under-16 are currently receiving puberty suppressants (as part of a research study) and up until 2011, these could not be prescribed. UK citizens under 16 are also not legally permitted to obtain treatment from other European countries.<sup>177</sup>

The Endocrine Society<sup>178</sup> and WPATH<sup>179</sup> advocate that puberty suppressant treatment be made available to gender dysphoric young people in the early stages of puberty, since it can be psychologically and physically beneficial.<sup>180</sup> Allowing access to drugs, which slow or halt the physical developments of puberty, has a number of advantages,<sup>181</sup> including; alleviating the harm and distress caused by the physical development of an assigned gender in opposition to a young person's identified gender, prolonging the period during which a young person can explore their gender identity before their body begins to change, reducing the need for traumatic and invasive forms of sexual reassignment surgery

in later life, <sup>182</sup> and lastly, preventing young people from seeking these drugs illicitly if denied access to them. According to the SRI, denying under-18s gender reassignment therapy is a violation of their SRR. <sup>183</sup> Even in countries where puberty suppressing treatment is available in the early stages of puberty, however, clinics offering the service are scarce and the high costs are potentially exclusionary. Furthermore, even though many young people feel they cannot (or do not wish to) disclose their gender variance to their families, the requirement for parental consent means they cannot access treatment (legally and safely) without doing so.

As in other areas of law related to SRH, this review has found that in many contexts there are significant discrepancies between existing legal provisions and the way these are implemented in practice. In **Denmark** and **South Africa**, for example, legal provisions exist to allow a change of gender and/or name. Nevertheless, in practice, applications are often delayed for months or even years. <sup>184</sup> Conversely, in some contexts legal provisions prohibiting trans-identity contrast with cultures and societies where trans-identity is highly visible and accepted largely without prosecution (e.g. in **Tonga** and **Samoa**). <sup>185</sup>

#### Prohibitions on heterosexual activity

Some states have sought to prohibit certain types of sexual activities regardless of whether they are practised within the context of a heterosexual or homosexual relationship. A number of states have laws that prohibit oral and anal sex and the possession and sale of sex toys (Malaysia is one of a number of countries internationally that has laws restricting oral and anal sex<sup>186</sup>). There are a limited number of countries, such as Pakistan and Saudi Arabia, where sex outside of marriage is a criminal offence.<sup>187</sup> Many Arab nations have rules restricting physical activity in public. Dubai, Saudi Arabia and the UAE all have public decency laws that in some manner prohibit kissing or other public displays of affections such as holding hands.<sup>188</sup>

#### Conclusions

There are severe restrictions on sexual freedom imposed on young people in many states around the world. These restrictions take the form of both direct and indirect forms of persecution: both through the active prosecution of individuals, and through the failure to protect individuals from discrimination and harm on the basis of their sexuality.

During the field research it may be interesting to consider how (the language of) laws relating to sexual behaviour and identity, and young people's perceptions of these both reflect and affect wider attitudes to sexuality and gender in society and, in turn, young people's access to SRH services. (For example in **Dominica** all sexual activity is defined by the Sexual Offences Act 1998 as 'gross indecency' and the law starts by essentially prohibiting all sexual activity before prescribing the limited circumstances in which it is allowed).<sup>189</sup>

#### 2.4.2b Consent to sexual activity

The majority of states around the world prescribe the age at which a young person may legally consent to sexual activity. The different ages of consent, and the ways in which consent is understood within different jurisdictions have a significant impact on young people's ability to access sexual and reproductive health services. In many contexts there may be social, religious, economic (etc.) barriers in access to SRH services for young people under the age of consent. Furthermore, legal systems may directly align ages of consent to legal provisions that regulate access to SRH services (for example in many states where abortion is legal on request, an individual under the age of consent will require consent from an adult, usually their parents; in other countries an individual may not be able to legally access contraceptive services until they are over the age of consent).

#### Varying ages of consent

Establishing an age of consent is one of the many ways that states are understood to negotiate/balance the principle of protection of young people against a principle of autonomy and evolving capacities. Where the age of consent is set too low, young people may be exposed to rights violations such as rape, early/forced marriage and a range of risks to their physical and mental health including complications during pregnancy and heightened risk of HIV and other STI infection.<sup>190</sup> Where the age of consent is too high young people may face huge barriers to accessing their SRR, including their right to access vital sexual and reproductive health services.

Ages of consent vary widely in different countries around the world; ranging from 12 years in **Colombia**, **Mexico**, **Panama**, to 21 in **Cameroon**.<sup>191</sup> The vast majority of states set consent at between 14 and 16 years of age. In some states the age of consent is set at a specific age (e.g. the **UK** is 16), however in other states the age at which someone can consent to sex is defined as the point of someone having reached sexual maturity. Others combine the two. For instance, while the **Austrian** Penal Code sets the age of sexual consent at 14, it contains an exception which states that if one of the partners if younger than 16 years of age and "not sufficiently mature to understand the significance of the act" then it is punishable under law.<sup>192</sup> Finally, certain jurisdictions do not specifically set an age of consent, but an individual is only legally allowed to consent to sex within the context of marriage (e.g. **Saudi Arabia**, **Yemen**, **Bahrain** and **Bolivia**).<sup>193</sup>

#### Different ages of consent for boys and girls

Significantly in many states around the world there is a difference in ages of consent for men and for women. States in this category include **Bolivia**, **Hong Kong**, **China**, **Colombia**, **Guernsey**, **Indonesia**, **Lesotho**, **Mexico**, **Monaco**, **Pakistan**, **Panama**, **Philippines**, **Swaziland** and **Ireland**.<sup>194</sup> In **Mexico** the variation in ages of consent for girls and boys is the difference of 12 years (girls)

and 18 years (boys).<sup>195</sup> In *every* state where there is an unequal age of sex for boys and girls, the age of consent is younger for girls as opposed to boys, never the other way around.<sup>196</sup>

These findings are surprising given the presumed protectionist purpose of age of consent laws. Due to the interplay of social gender inequalities and biological factors, in most contexts around the world girls are more vulnerable than boys to becoming victims of sexual exploitation and violence, and the (potentially onerous or harmful) social, emotional and physical consequences of sexual intercourse tend to fall more heavily on women/girls than men/boys. As such, rather than fulfilling a protectionist purpose, it would seem that these laws are more accurately understood as both reflecting and prescribing social and cultural constructions of gender.

# Different ages of consent for heterosexual and homosexual activity

This understanding of age of consent laws also explains disparities in many jurisdictions between the ages that an individual can consent to heterosexual and homosexual sex. As mentioned above, many states around the world prohibit same-sex activity (especially between males). Other states set a higher age of consent to intercourse for homosexual couples either directly or indirectly (for males through setting a higher age for consent to anal sex); these countries include the **Bahamas**, **Bermuda**, **Chile**, **Indonesia**, **Madagascar**, **South Africa**, **India** (anal sex), **Canada** (anal sex between unmarried persons) and **Australia** (anal sex). Many of the states in this category include those who have only recently legalised any degree of adult same-sex activity (**Chile**). As such, the unequal age of consent may result from the transition period between condemnation of homosexual activity and acceptance.

In many states around the world the age consent is the same for same-sex couples as it is for different-sex couples. These states include **China**, **Costa Rica**, **Denmark**, **Guatemala**, **Hungary**, **Jordan**, **Montenegro**, **Serbia**, **South Korea**, **New Zealand**, **Thailand** and the **UK**. <sup>199</sup> This position is relatively recent in a number of these states (e.g. 2000 in the **UK**, <sup>200</sup> 2003 for **Hungary**, 2004 for **Lithuania**, and 2007 in the case of **Portugal**).

#### Unclear ages of consent for lesbians

In many states where specific legislation addresses gay homosexual activity there is no legislation addressing the age of consent for lesbians, e.g. **Armenia**, **Cyprus**, and **Senegal**<sup>201</sup> amongst many others. This appears to be universally the case until very recent times. For example in the **UK**, until the year 2000 (and the passing of the Sexual Offences Amendment Bill) there were no recognitions of consent for lesbian activity.<sup>202</sup> These laws reflect the failure of state legislation to address the needs of homosexual women, and to acknowledge their experiences and identity.

#### Conclusion

Laws that regulate ages of consent are likely to have significant impact on young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services, and sexual and reproductive health more broadly. Where ages of consent are low, particularly for girls, young people could be more vulnerable to sexual violence and health risks associated with early sexual activity. Alternatively, where the age of consent is set too high young people may be denied the education and services that they need to make healthy and autonomous decisions about their sexual and reproductive health, which could also have serious emotional, social and health implications. This may result from the direct impact of the law in restricting young people's access to rights and services, or the indirect impact of laws on sexual consent, which shape norms about appropriate sexual behaviour that then restrict access to services. A high age of sexual consent particularly problematic in contexts where the age of consent is linked to the age of marriage, which is in turn tied to sexual and reproductive health services. In these contexts many young, unmarried men and women face legal barriers to accessing services which protect and promote their right to sexual and reproductive health.

The imbalances in ages of consent for men/boys vs. women/girls and homosexual vs. heterosexual couples, as well as for different types of sexual activity in many states suggest that states' laws of consent are not solely derived for a protection purpose. Rather, and perhaps, more importantly, they are intended to describe and prescribe value-based norms concerning gender/childhood/adulthood, and serve as a means for controlling young people's sexual activity, identity and behaviour.

# 2.4.3 Violence and the criminalisation of sexual activity

Most countries have laws which criminalise certain sexual activity, particularly activity that is violent, causes harm, or is a violation of an individual's SRR. Other countries criminalise consensual sexual activity, such as same-sex sexual activity<sup>203</sup> (see previous), transactional or commercial sex work,<sup>204</sup> or adultery.<sup>205</sup> Legal frameworks on sexual violence and criminalisation of certain sexual activities impact on access to sexual and reproductive health services both directly and indirectly.

#### Direct relevance

In countries where sex crimes are not recognised in the law, practitioners are less likely to provide SRH services required by the victim, while the victim may not consider themselves eligible or in need of care. For instance, where the law does not recognise that a man can be a victim of rape, prevention and recovery services are unlikely to exist and victims will struggle to explain or present their experiences.<sup>206</sup> In particular, laws which incriminate victims of sexual violence (as well, or even to a greater extent than perpetrators<sup>207</sup>) have a serious negative impact on access to

services. Young people who have been sexually abused are unlikely to seek the care or other services that could help them recover physically and emotionally from the experience.<sup>208</sup> This is a violation of young people's sexual and reproductive rights, including the rights to health, autonomy, accountability and redress, and bodily integrity and personal security.<sup>209</sup>

#### **Indirect relevance**

When a country's government fails to prohibit, or even endorses violations of sexual and reproductive rights, this is likely to impact young people's access in a number of less direct ways. When an authority fails to protect or acknowledge victims' experiences, victims (and young people more broadly) are less likely to trust and access the information and services that the authority provides. The failure to criminalise sexual violence also has gendered implications. Sexual violence is a deeply gendered phenomenon, which often reflects and serves to solidify existing power dynamics within a society, with women, girls, and gender non-conforming individuals by far the greatest victims of abuse. Thus the failure to legally prohibit forms of sexual violence disproportionately experienced by these individuals, may serve to limit their access to SRH services by normalising and legitimising male dominance regarding sexuality, reproduction and SRH.

Laws on sex crimes also have important implications for the notion of sexual consent and choice regarding SRH, which lies at the core of SRR. For example, in countries where consent is assumed as part of a marriage contract (expressed through the failure to criminalise rape within marriage) a person's choices with regard to sex and reproduction become a function of laws, power structures and social norms rather than of individual autonomy and choice.

The relationship between violence and access to SRH services will be explored in greater detail through the following analysis of laws criminalising sexual violence or other sexual activity.

#### 2.4.3a Sexual violence and abuse

This section comprises a broad overview of laws on sexual violence and abuse around the world. Laws on sexual violence vary significantly among countries, partially due to cultural norms and attitudes regarding sexual abuse. Commonly known sex crimes include the following categories: rape, (child) molestation, sexual battery, sexual harassment, pornography production or distribution, and prostitution.

As noted by the UN Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women, sexual violence is a universal issue.<sup>212</sup> In nearly every national jurisdiction, however, sexual assault is an underreported crime with low conviction rates.<sup>213</sup> Developing robust legislation concerning sexual abuse is one method of addressing the issue, which has the potential to impact on social and cultural norms and values, through encouraging survivors to have the confidence to

report incidents of assault. This has the potential to have a positive cyclical effect: as law increases victims' confidence and reporting, permissive norms about sexual violence begin to shift, which in turn will increase victims' confidence and reporting, and also deter future acts of sexual violence or abuse.

Sexual violence and abuse and the laws that criminalise them have important implications for gender. While individuals of all genders can be victims of sexual violence, women and girls (and particularly LBT women and girls) and men of GBT identity are the most vulnerable. Thus legal frameworks, or the absence of legal frameworks, that seek to protect individuals from sexual violence have significant implications for equality and access to SRH services.

#### Domestic violence

Domestic violence is one of the most pervasive forms of violence that affects young people, occurring in all cultures and societies in the world. As well as being one of the most common types of violence, it is also historically one of the most unrecognised and unreported crimes.<sup>215</sup> Domestic violence is widely understood to be a form of gender-driven violence that is primarily directed at women and girls. 216 As such, laws that specifically address violence within intimate relationships, family and household settings generally refer exclusively to women and girls. It is important to recognise, however, that boys (especially young boys) are also highly vulnerable to domestic violence. In rarer cases, adult men may be victims; some evidence suggests, for example, that domestic violence occurs as frequently within homosexual relationships as it does within heterosexual ones.<sup>217</sup> Laws against domestic violence which indicate that women and girls are the only victims contribute to harmful gender norms and render violence directed towards men or in LGBT relationships invisible.

Domestic violence often includes sexual violence and for many individuals is a threat to their sexual and reproductive health.<sup>218</sup> It also affects victims' access to sexual and reproductive health services as violence and oppressive forms of (gendered) dominance within a relationship are often associated with control by the violent spouse over their partner's sexual and reproductive agency and choice. In **Senegal**, for example, research has shown that husbands may ask providers of SRH services not to provide contraceptives to their spouses, leading women to access forms of contraception in secret often using less safe methods.<sup>219</sup>

Domestic violence is prohibited by law in 125 countries, but the following countries, many of which are in Africa, do not have laws against domestic violence. These include, **Afghanistan**, **Algeria**, **Angola**, **Armenia**, **Azerbaijan**, **Bahrain**, **Belarus**, **Benin**, **Bhutan**, **Brunei Darussalam**, **Burkina Faso**, **Cameroon**, **Congo**, **C'ôte D'Ivoire**, the DRC, **Djibouti**, **Equatorial Guinea**, **Eritrea**, **Gabon**, **Gambia**, **Guinea**, **Guinea Bissau**, **Haiti**, **Hungary**, **Iraq**, **Kenya**, **Kiribati**, **Kuwait**, **Lebanon**, **Liberia**, **Lesotho**, **Lithuania**, **Maldives**, **Mali**, **Marshall Islands**, **Mauritania**,

Micronesia, Myanmar, Nauru, Niger, Nigeria, Occupied Palestinian Territory, Oman, Pakistan, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Qatar, Russia, Samoa, Saudi Arabia, Salomon Islands, Sudan, Swaziland, Syria, Togo, Togo, Tunisia, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, United Arab Emirates, United Republic of Tanzania, Uzbekistan, Yemen, Zambia. 221 The failure to legislate against domestic violence indicates an endorsement by the state of gender inequality, power and violence, and a failure to protect the autonomy and agency of women and girls in particular, and their right to access to SRH services.

#### Sexual harassment

Sexual harassment is another form of sexual abuse, which has disproportionate effects on women and girls, and may also occur based on sexual orientation or gender identity. In different legal contexts, sexual harassment is generally considered to be unwanted sexual attention, which causes harm to the victim. General Recommendation 19 to the Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination Against Women defines sexual harassment as including:

Such unwelcome sexually determined behaviour as physical contact and advances, sexually coloured remarks, showing pornography and sexual demands, whether by words or actions. Such conduct can be humiliating and may constitute a health and safety problem; it is discriminatory when the woman has reasonable ground to believe that her objection would disadvantage her in connection with her employment, including recruitment or promotion, or when it creates a hostile working environment.<sup>222</sup>

The failure to create legal prohibitions on sexual harassment may serve to legitimise forms of sexual abuse and promote gendered perceptions objectifying female sexuality. The following countries lack laws against sexual harassment: Afghanistan, Antigua and Barbuda, Bahrain, Barbados, Belarus, Bolivia, Cameroon, Chad, Djibouti, Dominica, Egypt, Gabon, Georgia, Ghana, Guatemala, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Haiti, Hungary, Indonesia, Jamaica, Japan, Jordon, Kazakhstan, Kiribati, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lebanon, Liberia, Malawi, Malaysia, Maldives, Mali, the Marshall Islands, Mauritania, Micronesia, Mongolia, Nepal, Nigeria, Occupied Palestinian Territory, Oman, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, Sierra Leone, Singapore, the Salomon Islands, Suriname, Syrian Arab Republic, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uzbekistan, Vanuatu and Yemen.<sup>223</sup>

#### Legislating on gender based violence

Gender based violence is commonly understood as violence that is perpetrated against an individual because of their (ascribed) gender and violence that disproportionately affects a particular gender group.<sup>224</sup> Because women and girls constitute the majority of victims of gender based violence around the world, the term 'gender based violence' is often conflated with the term the term 'violence against women and girls'. In fact, violence against women and girls is one (narrow) type or manifestation of gender based violence,<sup>225</sup> which can also affect men, boys and others who do not fit into hetero-normative understandings of what it is to be 'male'

(Somewhat problematically) international legal standards and policy tends to be focused on exclusively addressing violence against women and girls. More international attention needs to be brought to acknowledging the experiences of LGBT identified individuals and their vulnerability to violence. <sup>226</sup> Many of the international legal principles that are understood to address violence directed against women and girls could be expanded to include violence directed against men, boys and individuals who don't indentify within a gender-binary.

A United Nations Expert Group Meeting on good practices in legislation on violence against women identified several legislative elements that are necessary to effectively prevent violence against women,<sup>227</sup> including the following:

- Penal codes must include provisions criminalise all forms of violence against women, and the state must play an active role in enforcing these provisions through prosecuting all acts of violence.
- Police and courts must take preventative legal measures such as: "issue barring orders, detain perpetrators or order them to stay away from the victim's vicinity or forbid them to go to certain places."
- It is essential for the state to provide information, education and awareness-raising on domestic violence.
- Victims of sexual violence should have the right to professional help.
- "Women who are victims of sexual violence should have the right to live safely in their own homes and to be protected from the perpetrator (e.g., on the basis of expulsion or barring orders by the police or protection orders by the court)."
- All women who are victims of violence should have the right to a women's shelter or other protective environment (a standard that has yet to be achieved in many countries, including European countries).
- Women's social and economic rights are relevant to domestic violence, and must be promoted; women who are financially dependent are at greater risk of suffering violence or staying in a violent relationship to maintain economic security.

#### 2.4.3b Rape

Rape is perhaps the most severe form of sexual violence, and an analysis of different forms of rape legislation reveals important distinctions between states' laws on sexual violence. The following section will explore these different legal forms in detail, with particular attention on the implications for access to SRH services.

#### **Definitions of rape**

Most national laws define rape as forced (or non-consensual) sexual intercourse or other forms of sexual penetration (no matter how slight). The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime defines rape as sexual intercourse without valid consent, and the World Health Organization has defined it as "physically forced or otherwise coerced penetration – even if slight – of the vulva or anus, using a penis, other body parts or an object". 228 However this may miss some important forms of forced sexual intercourse such as oral penetration. Some countries, such as Germany, take a broader definition of rape as entailing other forms of sexual violence, which do not require penetration.<sup>229</sup> The International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda developed one of the first definitions of rape using the concept of coercion rather than consent: "a physical invasion of a sexual nature committed on a person under circumstances which are coercive". 230 This is an important step, as it recognises that rape often reflects inequities in power within societies.

In other countries, such as **Tajikistan** the definition of rape includes physical violence. The crime of rape is defined as; "Sexual intercourse using violence or threats of violence against the victim or her close relatives while taking advantage of the victim's helplessness". <sup>231</sup> Laws that take this form are problematic because they fail to address the crucial issue of consent, and therefore fail to address the wide variety of contexts and circumstances within which rape may occur. It is especially common for rape of young people to occur without (evidence of) physical assault.

#### Consent

As mentioned, consent is a key element of laws on rape: lack of consent on the part of the victim is integral to the definition of rape and determining whether or not rape occurred. However it is important that laws do not necessarily interpret the absence of objection as consent; lack of consent may be demonstrated by an act of force on the part of the perpetrator. Lack of consent may also be determined by the victim's inability to give consent, for instance if a victim is sleeping, intoxicated, or lacks the mental capacity to give consent.

Evidence of *duress* (in which the victim was subject to threats or force) constitutes lack of consent in some countries. Evidence of coercion, which take account of power dynamics between the victim and perpetrator, may also constitute a lack of consent. For instance, in the **Philippines**, a man commits rape if he engages

in sexual intercourse with a woman "by means of fraudulent machination or grave abuse of authority".<sup>232</sup>

#### Statutory rape

Many states have an offence in their criminal laws of 'statutory rape' or 'unlawful carnal knowledge', which is committed when a person engages in sexual activity with a young person below a certain age. Laws on statutory rape vary significantly between countries; ranging from 12 to 18 years<sup>233</sup> with most countries setting the age at between 14 and 16 years.<sup>234</sup> In certain jurisdictions it is not the absolute age of the minor, but the age difference between sexual partners that determines whether an act of sex is legally considered to be rape. Further, the range of sexual acts which are defined as statutory rape vary, from kissing to sexual intercourse.<sup>235</sup>

It is considered best practice for states to have an exemption for prosecution where the sexual activity involves acts between two young people who are close in age<sup>236</sup> as the purpose of these provisions should not be to criminalise sexual exploration between young people. The aim should be to protect young people from sexual exploitation and abuse, rather than to criminalise factually consensual, non-exploitative, sexual behaviour between young people. Accordingly, the law should make a distinction between (1) factually consensual sexual activity taking place in the context of a young person's sexual development; and (2) sexual activity that by its very nature is exploitative.<sup>237</sup> The age of consent should not be set too low, to ensure that young people are protected from sexual abuse and exploitation. At the same time, it should not be too high, so that it is commensurate with the autonomy and evolving capacities of young people. Where the age is set very low, young people will not be adequately protected from sexual abuse and exploitation, but where it is set too high, it may not reflect the reality of young people's sexual relationships and may deny them access to advice, and services relating to sexual and reproductive health.

#### Rape within marriage

Historically, rape within marriage did not exist as a criminal act in national laws, but a number of countries have criminalised it over the past three decades. The first **US** state to criminalise rape within marriage did so in 1975 and it did not become a crime in the **UK** until 1991.<sup>238</sup> Marital rape is still not legally prohibited in 127 countries, <sup>239</sup> however in many of these countries, it remains unclear whether a perpetrator could be charged with marital rape under normal rape laws. In other countries, including **India**, **Indonesia** and **Vietnam**, marital rape is considered to be a form of domestic violence, but is not criminalised as rape.<sup>240</sup>

In certain countries, including **Sri Lanka**, **India** and **Tanzania**, rape between a married couple is only criminalised once they have been legally separated.<sup>241</sup> This is problematic as it indicates that either the state views marriage as entailing sexual obligations, or that laws

on rape are intended to restrict extramarital sex. As demonstrated below, in several of these countries individuals charged with marital rape receive more mild sentences than those charged with rape outside of marriage. In the **Bahamas**, spousal sexual assault is eligible for less jail time than charges of rape, and cannot be prosecuted without the permission of the Attorney General.<sup>242</sup> In **India**, Penal Code Section 376(A) states that "Whoever has sexual intercourse with his wife, who is living separately from him under a decree of separation or under any custom or usage without her consent shall be punished with imprisonment of either description for a term which may extend to two years and shall also be liable to a fine".<sup>243</sup>

#### Marriage as a solution to rape

It is particularly problematic that in certain countries (particularly in Africa and the Middle East) marriage can be used to resolve criminal prosecution for rape, and criminal charges against a rapist will be dropped if he agrees to marry his victim.<sup>244</sup> This practice, which is written into the law in several countries, including Algeria, Bolivia, Cameroon, Guatemala, Morocco, Philippines, Tajikistan and, until recently, Peru, Brazil and Egypt<sup>245</sup> and emerges from customary law in many East and West African countries, serves to normalise sexual and gender based violence, and constitutes a pervasive violation of women and girls' right to consent to sexual activity.

Some legal systems place a heavy burden of proof upon the victim: in many Muslim countries, Sharia law requires a confession from the rapist or four male witnesses in order to prove an act of rape has occurred.<sup>246</sup> In a number of countries, such as **Bangladesh** and **Somalia**, victims of rape may be punished for their involvement in 'illegal' sexual activity, such as sex outside of marriage.<sup>247</sup> In deeply conservative societies, where sexual activity before marriage is condemned, honour killings are practiced. This is a practice where women (often adolescents and young women) are killed by family or community members for bringing dishonour to the family, usually through sexually related behaviour or engagement in a sexual act. Honour killings are a severe problem in a number of states including Pakistan, India, Egypt, Saudi Arabia, Syria, **Yemen** and others, and, particularly in the Middle East and Southeast Asia, governments have failed to effectively regulate the practice.<sup>248</sup>

#### Implementation of the law

In all countries in the world rape is under reported and under prosecuted.<sup>249</sup>

This may be a function of a lack of awareness among victims of their rights, or social pressure against sexual activity outside of marriage. For instance, victims may feel "too ashamed to discuss rape with a stranger; they may not want family and friends to find out about the assault; they fear they will not be believed, [due to] the societal presumption that the victim deserved it or is lying;

they fear they will be faced with hostile police officers, prosecutors and judges; they desire to hide something in their past (drug use or promiscuity); or they fear facing their attacker. Acquaintance rape is the most frequent rape to go unreported. In addition to the aforementioned concerns, acquaintance rape victims may want to maintain a relationship with their rapist. Also, societal attitudes foster the idea that acquaintance rape is not real rape and that the victim most likely consented".<sup>250</sup>

In some contexts where women are perceived as sexual objects without agency or desire, women's resistance to sex is normalised or encouraged, creating the perception that force or lack of consent is a natural part of sexual relationships. This may be the case even in countries with thorough and comprehensive laws on rape. For instance, in **South Africa** rape is defined in the Criminal Law (Sexual Offences and Related Matters) Amendment Act, 2007 as a statutory offence including all forms of sexual penetration without consent, irrespective of gender. Yet four out of ten women in **South Africa** characterised their first sexual experience as rape.<sup>251</sup>

#### Gender and rape

The definition of rape in some countries dictates that it is always perpetrated by a man. In **Scotland**, for example, the law defines rape as sexual assault committed with a penis.<sup>252</sup> While statistically rape is predominantly an act committed by males against females, rape can be committed by a person of any gender against a person of any gender. Attacks on men by other men are particularly prevalent, for instance a study by the **US** Federal Government revealed that 70,000 American male prisoners are raped each year.<sup>253</sup>

However women have been prosecuted for rape in several countries; In "Zimbabwe last year three women, said by police to be part of a nationwide syndicate, were put on trial for allegedly kidnapping and drugging men and then forcing them to have sex in order to collect their semen in condoms for use in rituals that claimed to make people wealthy. This year a woman in the Australian city of Adelaide was charged with rape after breaking into a man's home and forcing him to perform oral sex".<sup>254</sup>

#### **Emerging standards in rape law**

As the preceding analysis reveals, it is critical that rape laws are redrafted in a way that the legality of the act does not depend on the victims' behaviour, but instead on the perpetrator's failure to get consent.<sup>255</sup>

Definitions of rape must be comprehensive; rape should never depend on the relationship between the victim and the perpetrator and anal and oral rape should be included in definitions.

- Where possible, any practice that stigmatise the victims (such as consideration of the victims' sexual history by the defence) should be avoided.
- Laws should also include training for officials involved in investigation and prosecution to ensure that victims are protected and cases prosecuted effectively.

Recent improvements in legal frameworks on violence against women, including rape, promise to improve accountability for victims and contribute to a shift in social norms. In Latin America, where violence against women is particularly widespread, a number of countries have made improvements to legislation on rape.<sup>256</sup> In 1979 **Puerto Rico** removed a provision which requires the victim to give evidence of previous sexual activity.<sup>257</sup> Additionally, Mexico (1989), Peru (1991), Guatemala (1997), Colombia (1997), Dominican Republic (1997), Honduras (1997), Bolivia (1997), Ecuador (1998), El Salvador (1998) and Chile (1999) changed legal frameworks regarding sexual crimes by "eliminating cultural concepts that operated to the detriment of the victim such as references to (i) the honour of the victim; (ii) her previous conduct; (iii) sanctions for these crimes were increased; and (iv) sexual crimes were typified, among them marital rape". 258 As noted by Flor de Maria Meza Tanata, what is particularly important about these legal changes in relation to SRH and access to SRH services is that sexual crimes are increasingly being considered as crimes against the sexual integrity and freedom of the victim, rather than crimes against moral conventions about sex and sexuality.<sup>259</sup>

#### 2.4.3c Molestation and child sexual abuse

Sexual abuse of children, sometimes referred to as molestation, is a crime in most countries. Child sexual abuse may impact young people's access to SRH services by normalising abusive and harmful sexual relationships and instilling young people with misinformed ideas about SRH and causing them to feel shame and mistrust related to sexual activity. Legal definitions of molestation may include engaging in any sexual act with children under the age of 18, including rape, sexual or unwanted touching, taking pornographic pictures, or inducing sexual acts (including with other children). The definition of molestation may be broader in a case where the perpetrator has a history of paedophilia.

Most countries have laws prohibiting child sexual abuse, focussing on prevention, protection and rehabilitation. However in some countries, such as **Yemen**, laws prohibiting child sexual abuse do not exist. <sup>260</sup> Even where child sexual abuse is criminalised, implementation is difficult, particularly in many African countries, due to limited knowledge of the laws, reluctance to report among children and parents, lack of trust in formal legal systems lack of knowledge about how to respond to cases of child sexual abuse among practitioners and slow and ineffective systems. <sup>261</sup>

#### **Mandatory reporting**

Laws on child sexual abuse may impact access to SRH services when they include mandatory reporting requirements. Mandatory reporting requirements place a legal obligation on practitioners who discover or suspect that a child has been a victim of abuse to report the facts to a legal authority. While health practitioners are often in the best position to identify a child protection concern, mandatory reporting may create barriers for young people accessing SRH services where they do not want to disclose abuse. For example, a young person who has been a victim of sexual abuse but does not wish to disclose the abuse may avoid seeking out reproductive health services. Given that the first priority under the law should be the health and wellbeing of the victim, it is important that the law protects the confidentiality of the victim.

#### 2.4.3d Female genital mutilation (FGM)

FGM is a form of gender-based violence which is criminalised in some countries yet remains a legal and prevalent practice in others. Female genital mutilation (FGM) is defined by WHO and the United Nations (UN) agencies as "the partial or total removal of the female external genitalia or other injury to the female genital organs for non-medical reasons". <sup>262</sup> FGM is a violent procedure, which severely compromises the victim's sexual and reproductive health, and leads to serious SRH complications. <sup>263</sup> FGM is also harmful to SRH by destroying women and girls' capacity to experience sexual pleasure. <sup>264</sup> FGM has been categorised into four types:

**Type I:** Partial or total removal of the clitoris and/or the prepuce (clitoridectomy).

**Type II:** Partial or total removal of the clitoris and the labia minora, with or without excision of the labia majora (excision).

**Type III:** Narrowing of the vaginal orifice with creation of a covering seal by cutting and appositioning the labia minora and/or the labia majora, with or without excision of the clitoris (infibulation).

**Type IV:** All other harmful procedures to the female genitalia for non-medical purposes, for example: pricking, piercing, incising, scraping and cauterisation.<sup>265</sup>

FGM is prohibited by law in over 25 countries including Australia, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, New Zealand, Norway, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom, United States (federal law, and specific state laws). It has also been banned in the following African countries: Benin, Burkina Faso, Central African Republic, Chad, Cote d'Ivoire, Djibouti, Egypt (ministerial decree), Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, Niger, Nigeria (multiple states), Senegal, Tanzania and Togo.<sup>266</sup> Penalties for

FGM may range from six months to life in prison, and include monetary fines in some countries. In June of 2000, prosecutions or arrests had been held in **Burkina Faso**, **Egypt**, **Ghana**, **France** and **Senegal**.<sup>267</sup>

#### Constitutional law and FGM

Some national constitutions include provisions designed to uphold women and girls' rights, which may require governments to take legal action against FGM. For example, provisions on 'women's protection from harmful practices'; prohibition of customs or traditions that are 'against the dignity, welfare or interest of women or which undermine their status', and abolition of 'traditional practices' injurious to people's health and well-being may create a legal requirement for the revision or abolition of laws and policies that are not compatible with these principles.<sup>268</sup> The Constitution of **Ethiopia** states that women shall have equal rights with men and supersedes customary law allowing practices that oppress or cause bodily or mental harm to women.<sup>269</sup> Despite this, a study involving over 10,000 young people in **Ethiopia** found that 58% of the young women and girls surveyed had experienced female genital mutilation (FGM).<sup>270</sup>

#### **Criminal laws**

Several governments have enacted criminal laws which specifically prohibit FGM and distinguish certain roles which may make a person liable for prosecution, including; traditional practitioners, medical personnel, parents, guardians and persons who fail to report a potential or already committed crime. Penalties include imprisonment, fines and medical disqualification depending on the form of mutilation or level of harm suffered by the victim. In some countries, existing provisions of criminal codes have been applied to FGM, such as provisions which prohibit: 'intentional wounds or strikes', 'assault occasioning grievous harm', 'attacks on corporal and mental integrity' or 'violent acts that result in mutilation or permanent disability'.<sup>271</sup>

#### Child protection laws

Child protection laws have been applied to FGM practices in several countries. As child protection laws call for the state to intervene in any case where there is reason to believe that child abuse has or may occur, authorities may have grounds to remove a girl from her family or community "if there is reason to believe that she will be subjected to female genital mutilation," and when this is in the child's best interests.<sup>272</sup>

#### FGM and young people's access to services

Laws and social practice regarding FGM impact young people's access to services on a number of levels. FGM is often associated with imposing a restrictive morality on women's sexual activity; the clitoris is removed in order to reduce women's sexual drive and desire, which is intended to control sexual activity and 'ensure marital fidelity' and 'decent behaviour'.<sup>273</sup> These forms of oppression, and the related signals that women should not

be sexually active, or have sexual agency may serve as barriers to women and girls in seeking out or accessing SRH services.

Women who have experienced FGM also often experience serious and unpleasant symptoms that cause them to undergo social isolation and great shame. Shame associated with their bodies and alienation from their sexuality is likely to reduce girls and women's level of comfort in accessing SRH services, or approaching practitioners about sexual health problems or needs.<sup>274</sup>

#### 2.4.3e Commercial sex work

Despite being a prevalent global industry, sex work is outlawed in many countries. According to an analysis of laws on sex work in 100 countries across the globe, it is legal in 50% of countries, has limited legality in 11% and is illegal in 39% of countries.<sup>275</sup> Laws regulating sex work can take several forms.

- 1 In several countries, sex work is legal but owning a brothel or pimping is not;
- 2 In others sex work and brothel ownership is legal, but pimping is not:
- **3** Finally, a number of countries have legalised brothels, pimping and sex work.

Laws which prohibit sex work as a sexual crime or offence (for example **Antigua and Barbuda**, **Dominica**, **Liberia**, **Slovenia**, **South Africa** and many others<sup>276</sup>) risk violating the SRR of women engaged in sex work. Where sex work is criminalised, women are unlikely to access SRH services such as health checks, treatment and contraception, which has serious repercussions on their health.<sup>277</sup> Laws that focus criminalisation on the buying of sex rather than the selling of sex can avoid creating some SRH risks, though they frequently create other risks for sex workers. For example, in **Sweden**, sex work is criminalised, but only the buying of sex is a crime – selling sex is not. Thus the law treats sex work as a form of sexual violence and focuses on addressing the demand which lies at the root cause of the practice.<sup>278</sup>

Enforcing criminal laws that target sex workers may also be an ineffective approach to crime control. A study on enforcement strategies by the Home Office found that enforcement operations were "resource intensive with no long term gain as they lead to a temporary reduction in prostitution activity only, displacement of activity is more likely and simply shifts the problem of crime to another functional area e.g. shoplifting. It was found that arresting and fining women tends to drive them back onto the streets to pay their fine and that arresting women compounds their social disadvantage as regular arrest becomes part of their lives".<sup>279</sup>

However, laws that criminalise the buying of sex rather than the selling of sex (exemplified by the 1999 **Swedish** Law which is widely known as the 'Swedish model') have also been criticised,

especially by advocates for sex workers rights, who claim that this drives sex workers underground, <sup>280</sup> thus exacerbating SRH risks.

Reports demonstrate that the Swedish Model has increased the risk of violence faced by sex workers and, by criminalising the industry, has decreased sex workers' ability or likelihood to access health services.<sup>281</sup> According to critics, the Swedish model also conflates the situation of migrant sex workers, domestic sex workers, and women trafficked into sex work, viewing all women selling sex as 'victims' and denying them access to labour rights enjoyed by other workers.<sup>282</sup> The criminalisation of the client also reduces the likelihood of them coming forward with information about instances of trafficking.<sup>283</sup> This problem is exhibited by laws in Iceland and Norway, which follow the Swedish, or 'Nordic' Model,<sup>284</sup> as well as in other European countries (such as **Finland** and the **UK**) and **US states** (such as Illinois and New York), where laws seek to further criminalise the 'end buyer'. 285 Trafficking laws in several countries, such as; Guatemala, Cambodia and South **Korea**, also treat trafficked sex workers and voluntary sex workers identically, inhibiting the latter from working.<sup>286</sup> The 1998 Law on the Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation in **Cambodia** is an example of where, "the conflation of consensual sex work and sex trafficking in such legislation leads to, at best, the implementation of inappropriate responses that fail to assist either of these groups in realizing their rights, and, at worst, to violence and oppression".287

There has been a recent push from UN agencies towards the decriminalisation of sex work in order to guarantee the rights of sex workers. In 2010, the UN Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the highest standards of health stated that "the failure of legal recognition of the sex-work sector results in infringements of the right to health, through the failure to provide safe working conditions, and a lack of recourse to legal remedies for occupational health issues". 288 WHO released guidelines in 2012, which advocate for all countries to decriminalise sex work and pursue antidiscrimination laws and policies to protect sex workers' rights to social, health, and financial services.<sup>289</sup> In 2010, UNDP released a report that also called for governments and international bodies to decriminalise voluntary sex work, and "ensure safe working conditions and offer sex workers and their clients' access to effective HIV and health services and commodities".290 It is thought that through decriminalisation of voluntary sex work, workers in this industry will be better able (and more likely due to reduced stigma) to exercise their SRR.

#### 2.4.3f Conclusions

An examination of legal frameworks on sexual violence and their implications for young people's access to SRH services reveals that laws on sexual violence (or the lack thereof) may create barriers to access, particularly for women and girls. When states fail to criminalise sexual violence within the home (domestic

violence) and sexual harassment, this serves to legitimate male dominance, reduce female decision making power and reinforce messages that women are sexual objects with limited agency. The implications may be social stigma around women and girls' access to SRH services or male control of decisions regarding SRH. When conducting research, we will consider laws on sexual violence (and particularly violence against women) in order to understand the legal context on gender and power relations, and determine how laws on violence may serve as direct or indirect barriers to access.

This relates to another critical characteristic of laws on sexual violence as they relate to access; laws which are developed in order to enforce moral codes on sexuality are likely to create barriers to access, where laws that focus on protecting the sexual autonomy and integrity of the individual are more likely to promote access, and sexual and reproductive health more broadly. Laws focused on enforcing moral codes attach stigma to sexual activity and may apply punitive measure to victims of sexual violence creating barriers to access (consider legal frameworks that fail to protect, or even punish, victims of rape). Conversely, laws that target the root cause of sexual violence, exploitation, and trafficking, whilst simultaneously promoting and protecting the rights of voluntary sex workers, will be more effective at both reducing sex crimes and promoting SRH.

# **3** Concluding thoughts

This inception report has reviewed different areas of law that relate to access to sexual and reproductive health services, particularly for young people. In particular, the review considered legal provisions that relate to access to services; access to abortion; sexual freedom, equality and consent; violence and the criminalisation of sexual activity. While the review was not comprehensive, it identified the range of ways in which countries do and do not legislate in the areas listed above, and explored the impact of different legal models on access. One of the central themes emerging from the review is that a vast range of laws impact on access to sexual and reproductive health services. Many of these laws are intended to regulate access to SRH services on the basis of age, particularly through establishing who has, or does not have, the 'capacity' to legally 'consent' to different activities and services. The review revealed that the meanings of different laws, and the interactions between them, are complex. Given this, the research will focus on determining young people and service providers' knowledge and understanding of the law, as well as how that knowledge and understanding relates to decisions to seek and access services. The methodology designed to address these issues is outlined below.

# 4 Methodology

We will structure our approach to data collection around two central questions:

- 1 What are young people's and service providers' knowledge, perceptions, understandings and interpretations of law related to sexual and reproductive health (SRH) and gender and sexuality more broadly?
- **2** And how do these factors shape young people's experiences, expectations, choices and practices related to seeking of and access to SRH services?

### **Country selection**

We propose to conduct research for the study in three locations based on analysis of the desk review and in consultation with IPPF. Regions will be chosen according to the following criteria in order to ensure that findings are relevant to a broad range of IPPF member associations, include a range of socio-legal forms, and have some comparative value:

- 1 Laws regulating access: We will choose one country with highly restrictive laws regulating access to SRH, one with relatively permissive laws, and one where the situation is more mixed. Of the two more restrictive legal systems we will choose one country with a strong and comprehensive rule of law, and another where customary or informal legal systems are strong.
- 2 Specific legal barriers: Of our three selected countries we will ensure that the following restrictive laws are represented: a high age of sexual consent which is legally (or practically) associated with access; a restrictive law on abortion; a restrictive law on abortion that includes exceptions; a restrictive law on access to contraceptives (for examples requiring parental consent for under 18s); and other laws with interesting implications for gender, access to SRH services, forms of sexual, gender based violence, etc.
- 3 Religious and cultural environment: We will choose one country with a strong Islamic influence on law and society; a second country with a strong conservative Catholic tradition; and a third with a secular state and largely secular population.
- 4 Other cultural practices: We will choose countries with other relevant cultural practices such as FGM and traditional forms of medicine.
- **5** Global regional diversity: We will choose one country from the European region, one from Africa, and a third from Latin America.
- **6** We will choose a country (countries) with diverse populations facing different barriers to access. This will provide a valuable opportunity to compare how legal barriers interact with other barriers to impact young people's (perceptions of) access to SRH services.

### Sampling methods

We will access a range of different groups during the field research with a focus on reaching out to young people and service providers from both urban and rural communities, and from diverse economic, ethnic (where relevant), religious and geographical contexts. We will also include parents and care givers in research, and (in some cases) legal representatives and policy makers. Selection of communities and research participants will be conducted in close consultation with input and support from IPPF member associations.

We plan to include young people between the ages of 12–25, although the minimum age limit will be determined after a thorough risk analysis and evaluation of ethical considerations in light of the norms and culture of each country context. With the help of IPPF member associations, and CCLC's institutional contacts in each country, we will ensure that our sample includes vulnerable or marginalised groups where it is safe to do so, including homeless young people, homosexual and transgender communities, refugees, sex workers, young people living in extreme poverty, and those with different forms of disability.

We will identify 5 communities to include in the study in each research locations. Of these five, two will be urban communities; one, which is economically advantaged with access to resources, and one, which is disadvantaged with limited access. Of the three rural communities we will select one with a particularly strong religious influence and another with a less strong religious influence.

We will spend 2 days conducting research in each community, to reach a total of 10 days of research within each country (assuming that resources allow). The first day of research will be spent with young people: we will conduct four individual interviews in the morning and two focus group discussions in the afternoon, one with boys and another with girls (data collection methods are described in more detail below). If we are working in communities that include a marginalised group of young people, we will arrange a separate FGD so that members of the group can discuss their issues in a protective environment. We will organise focus group discussions with young people in a similar age range to ensure that discussions are not intimidating and are age appropriate. We anticipate that groups will be broken down by the following ages: 12–15, 16–18 and 19–25.

On the second day of research we will spend half a day interviewing 3–4 sexual and reproductive health service providers. Individual interviews will be conducted to ensure privacy so that service providers are not subject to professional pressure to conform to certain standards or positions. In the afternoon we will conduct two focus group discussions with parents and carers.

Depending on the legal context in which the research is carried out, the CCLC team, in careful consultation with IPPF, and with regard to any risks and ethical considerations, may attempt to access providers of clandestine or illegal SRH services. For instance, given the prevalence of such activity in Senegal, this would provide critical information on young people's demand for and access to certain SRH services and the (legal) barriers surrounding these services

### Primary data collection methods

The CCLC team will carry out direct, primary field research in three locations with regard to the following questions:

- What are the direct and indirect legal barriers that impact on young people's access to SRH services?
- How do different legal principles and provisions facilitate or inhibit access to SRH services for young people both directly and indirectly?
- What do young people know about the law as it applies to SRH services?
- What do they know about the law as it applies to sexuality and sexual activity?
- How do young people perceive or interpret such laws as applying to themselves or their peers?
- How does this knowledge and perception impact on their access to SRH services?
- What are their experiences accessing SRH services and information? How do they expect this process to occur?
- What are the gaps in their information and access?
- How do legal barriers interact with social, cultural or other barriers to accessing SRH services?

Data collection tools, designed to answer each of these questions, have been developed alongside the methodology and submitted as an annex to this document. Tools were designed to ensure that concepts are clearly explained and developed in a way that is engaging and 'young-person-friendly'. We will also conduct group discussions and participatory activities with young people in a way that is sensitive to protecting their anonymity and acknowledges the sensitive nature of the subject matter. Our research will be primarily conducted through individual interviews, focus group discussion and participatory learning and action methods. The value of these methods, and what we hope to achieve through them is described in greater detail below.

#### **Individual interviews**

Given the sensitive nature of the research, and the fact that it will involve speaking to young people about their behaviour, choices, perceptions and experiences related to access to sexual and reproductive health services, it is important that individual interviews are carried out so respondents are given a private and confidential setting in which to respond. Interviews will be

qualitative and semi-structured in nature: data collection tools were developed to facilitate a level of standardisation in data collection, however, the tools will be used as guides, rather than being followed religiously. Instead, interviews will be conducted in a participatory manner; the researcher will be guided by the young person's responses within the broader frame of the research questions. Questions will be asked based on the respondents' experiences and with a view to encouraging the most *authentic* and responsive data.

Interviews will aim to collect data on:

- 1 Respondents' knowledge, understandings and attitudes towards relevant law relating to gender, sexuality and health, on the part of both young people and service providers;
- **2** How these perceptions are linked to individual's practices, choices and experiences concerning access to (*or in the case of service providers, provisions of*) SRH services.

Interviews will include a mix of life history questions and questions that focus on perceptions of law and access to SRH services. This will allow us to link demographic data (e.g. gender, age, ethnicity, sexuality etc.) and data on participants' backgrounds and life circumstances, to particular perceptions about the law (and gender, sexuality and health more broadly) and experiences relating to seeking of and access to SRH services. It will allow us to examine how participants' social environments and lived experiences have shaped their understandings of law and experiences relating to access. This will facilitate our understanding of whether the legal environment impacts young people's seeking of and access to SRH services differently depending on other social and environmental factors, and to determine how other factors that influence access and service seeking behaviour interact with the legal environment. Following a 'life history' structure through interviews, will also allow us to access information about how (and why) perceptions of law and access to SRH services might change over time.

#### Focus groups

We will conduct focus group discussions (FDG) with both service providers and young people (questions asked will depend on the legal contexts, the nature of the services, and issues surrounding anonymity).

FDGs will consist of groups of 6–8 individuals. During focus groups with young people, we will separate individuals according to gender due to the sensitive nature of the issues under discussion (in consultation with Member Associations; particularly in the more legally 'permissive' country, we may deviate from this in some cases, as interactions between different genders may provide meaningful inputs to research). Data collection tools for focus group discussions will be designed such that participants are encouraged to discuss issues in a general, hypothetical, or

scenario-based format, so that they do not feel the need to reveal information about personal experiences.

Focus group discussions will provide a useful method for exploring issues concerning different contexts of access to SHR services. For example, participants will be presented with a series of 'scenarios' and asked to discuss/debate how they view the situation, as well as their perceptions of how the law applied to the situation (e.g. different circumstances in which an individual may seek contraceptive or abortion services). Exploring these issues through a focus group discussion will be particularly useful as participants will have the opportunity to respond to each others' ideas and opinions; this has the potential to stimulate discussion and debate. Focus group discussions are generally more interesting for participants than individual interviews, and can provide for a more fun and relaxed environment for young people than a one-to-one setting. Also, as focus groups take the pressure off individual respondents, they can sometimes result in more natural and spontaneous answers than individual interviews. On the other hand, it will be necessary for researchers to consider the implications of social pressure and other group dynamics, which have the potential to skew opinions and information.

### Other methods and tools

We will consider engaging the use of Participatory Learning and Action, which involves the use of visual techniques in order to ensure that certain groups are adequately involved in the research. For instance, when we pilot tools we will ask research participants to develop drawings or maps which present first, services they access (or cannot access), second, safe spaces where they can get advice or support on SRH matters, and, third, barriers to accessing SRH information and services. Maps can give insightful information about both the local environment and the young person's place in the community. This can generate further conversation about behaviour of individuals in the community, and the young person's views on and interpretations of this behaviour. We will use the mapping techniques discussed above depending on outcomes of the pilot.

We will also engage in role-play with practitioners. Researchers will approach practitioners as a young person who wishes to access SRH services (contraceptives or abortion) to get a strong sense of how practitioners responses, and treatment of young people in such a scenario.

#### Involving young people in the research

Young people are important agents for change. Participation of young people in the research has potential to challenge cultures of taboo surrounding discussion of and access to SRH services, and stigma that can be attached to those who have access such services. As such, at all stages of the research we will ensure that we work in partnership with young people.

For instance, we will pilot data collection tools with a group of young person volunteers (who we will access through our institutional affiliation with Coram) before beginning to implement research to determine the accessibility, effectiveness and 'young-person friendliness' of tools. Young people may be able to comment on ways of making them feel confident to speak about sensitive subjects.

We also intend to include young people in the initial findings presentation/data validation workshop as they are likely to raise important questions and provide useful inputs into the interpretation of data.

We would like to include young people in the development a young-person-friendly version of the report, if funding allows.

#### **Cultural considerations**

We will ensure that the diversity of young people is recognised in all stages of the research. We will work to ensure that patterns of inequality are not reinforced, allowing young people from traditionally dominant groups to get a greater say (e.g. based on gender, race etc.). We will do this by engaging interpreters, conducting meetings and research at a time and place most convenient for people (i.e. near the schools or homes of particular young people), and setting ground rules about what language it is and is not appropriate to use. We will also ensure that young people with disabilities are considered and will make arrangements to enable their participation as necessary.

We will consult with member associations and (where feasible) with young people, carers and support institutions on particular cultural considerations that might need to be taken into account, and use this information to guide the project.

We will be sure to plan for sharing the outcomes of the research with participants.

#### **Gender sensitive approach**

The team employs a gender sensitive approach in all our research. This is particularly important when conducting research related to sexual health. From a research perspective: it will be important to consider how gender identities and power dynamics within relationships are linked to young people's understandings of legal contexts and barriers in access to SRH services.

From an ethics perspective: when designing the methodology and data collection tools, and whilst conducting interviews and focus groups, it will be crucial to be sensitive to how gender identities affect individual experiences related to seeking of and access to SRH services.

### **Ethical guidelines**

Due to the sensitivity of the research topic, which deals with core issues of identity and violence, and the young age of participants, special care will be taken to ensure that the research does not cause harm to the participants and that ethical guidelines are set out and strictly followed. The CCLC researchers involved in the project have expertise in carrying out research with young people, including with particularly vulnerable young people. In addition, interpreters will undergo a day and a half of training on skills and ethical issues involved in carrying out research with young people, and on the purpose, methodology and tools for the study.

#### Do no harm and best interests of the child

It is of the upmost importance to ensure that research carried out with children and young people does not cause them harm. The welfare and best interests of the participants will be the primary consideration in data collection. The research will be guided by the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, in particular Article 3.1 which states: "In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration." Due to the sensitivity of the research topics, particular care will be taken to ensure that questions are asked sensitively and in a child-friendly manner that is appropriate to the age of the participants. Clear language will be used which avoids victimisation, blame and judgement. Where it is clear that the interview is having a negative effect on a participant, the interview will be stopped. Any child protection concerns will be identified and dealt with appropriately (see below).

Children involved in individual interviews will be provided with the opportunity to be interviewed with a trusted adult or friend if this would make them feel more at ease. Researchers should identify staff at institutions (schools, community groups) that are available to accompany participants, if requested.

As the interviews may cover particularly sensitive or traumatic material, including personal experiences of violence, it is important to ensure that participants feel empowered and not solely like victims. Towards the end of the interview, therefore, questions will be asked about what would make life better for young people in their country context. This will help to ensure that young people do not leave the interview focusing on past experiences of abuse. Also, where young people reveal past experiences of violence, researchers will convey empathy, but will not show shock or anger, as this can be harmful to young people who have experienced violence.

#### Voluntary participation

Participation in the study will be on a voluntary basis. No incentives will be provided. Researchers will explain to participants in clear, age-appropriate language that they are not required to participate

in the study, that they may refuse to answer any questions and may stop the interview or stop participating in the focus group at any time. Researchers will carefully explain that refusal to participate will not result in any negative consequences.

#### Informed consent

At the start of all interviews and focus group discussions, participants will be informed of the purpose and nature of the study through the information and consent form, where possible. Where it is not possible for the participant to sign a consent form (e.g. due to illiteracy), interviewers will explain the nature and purpose of the study and request the verbal consent of the participants to conduct the interview / focus group and then record that permission has been granted. Special effort must be made to explain the nature and purpose of the study in clear, age-appropriate language. Where researchers are not certain that a participant has understood the nature and purpose of the study and the involvement of the participant, they will request the participant to relay the key information back to them. Participants will also be advised that the information they provide will be held in strict confidence (see below).

#### **Anonymity**

Due to the sensitive nature of the information likely to be provided to participants, ensuring confidentiality and anonymity is of the upmost importance. The participants will be told that their identities will be kept confidential throughout the process of data collection as well as in the analysis and writing up the study findings. The following measures will be used to ensure anonymity:

- Researchers will not record the name of participants and will ensure that names are not recorded on any documents containing data collected for the study, including on transcripts of interviews and focus group discussions;
- Interviews will take place in a separate room which ensures that the participant's answers are not overheard;
- Researchers will be advised, once the CCLC has confirmed receipt of transcripts from interviews and focus group discussions from researchers, that they must delete the transcript from their computers;
- CCLC will store all data on a secure, locked server, to which persons who are not employed by the Centre cannot gain access. All employees of the CCLC, including volunteers and interns, receive a criminal record check before employment commences; and
- Research findings will be presented in such a way so as to ensure that individuals are not able to be identified.

#### Addressing child protection concerns

During the interviews and also possibly the focus group discussions, participants may disclose information that raises child protections concerns (i.e. information indicating that they are currently at risk of or are experiencing violence, exploitation or abuse). Prior to the data collection taking place, researchers should be provided

with copies of the child protection policies and procedures of each institution from which participants are recruited (i.e. schools, community groups) and should familiarise themselves with child protection referral mechanisms and child protection focal points. Participants should be advised before the interview or focus group commences that, should any information they provide indicate that they are at risk of abuse or exploitation, then researchers will need to follow the relevant child protection procedures, and should explain these procedures and why they will be used to participants.

Participants will always be interviewed with at least two persons present (two researchers or one researcher and one translator).

Ensuring the physical safety and well-being of researchers and participants

Interviews and focus group discussions will all take place on the premises of the institutions through which participants are recruited into the study (i.e. schools, community group buildings). As noted above, participants will always be interviewed with at least two persons present (two researchers or one researcher and one translator).

# **Endnotes**

- 1 World Health Organization, "Defining Sexual Health", retrieved on 16 June 2014 from <a href="http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/sexual\_health/sh\_definitions/en/">http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/sexual\_health/sh\_definitions/en/</a>.
- World Health Organization, "Reproductive Health", retrieved on 16 June 2014 from <a href="http://www.who.int/topics/reproductive\_health/en/">http://www.who.int/topics/reproductive\_health/en/</a>.
- International Planned Parenthood Federation, "Sexual Rights: a Declaration", <a href="http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/sexualrightsippfdeclaration\_1.pdf">http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/sexualrightsippfdeclaration\_1.pdf</a>.
- 4 UNCRC, Article 1.
- 5 IPPF, "Glossary", retrieved on 19 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippf.org/resources/media-press/glossary/y">http://www.ippf.org/resources/media-press/glossary/y</a>.
- 6 UNCRC, Article 5.
- 7 IPPF, "Understanding Young People's Right to Decide: Are Protection and Autonomy Opposing Concepts?" February 2012, p7.
- 8 UNCRC, Article 3.
- 9 WHO, "Female Genital Mutilation", retrieved on 13 May 2014 from <a href="http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77428/1/">http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77428/1/</a> WHO\_RHR\_12.41\_eng.pdf>.
- **10** IPPF, "Understanding Young People's Right to Decide: Are Protection and Autonomy Opposing Concepts?", February 2012, p5.
- 11 IPPF, "Understanding Young People's Right to Decide: Are Protection and Autonomy Opposing Concepts?", February 2012, p2.
- 12 Due to the difficulty accessing laws, particularly secondary legislation and guidance, and the dearth of secondary sources on laws that impact on young people's access to SRH, the mapping is not comprehensive. Information on law and policy is constantly changing. Finally, conflicting information and confusion between law and practice is particularly prevalent in the area of SRH, making it difficult in some cases to determine exactly what the law says. Given these limitations, this report draws upon the countries whose legislation was clear and accessible.
- 13 Marie Stopes International, "Delivering Sexual and Reproductive Health Services to Young People: Key Lessons from Marie Stopes International's Programmes", 1 February 2014, p6.
- **14** Guttmacher Institute and IPPF, "Facts on the Sexual and Reproductive Health of Adolescent Women in the Developing World", 2010, p3.
- **15** UNFPA, "Contraception", retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.unfpa.org/public/home/mothers/pid/4382">http://www.unfpa.org/public/home/mothers/pid/4382</a>>.

- **16** Guttmacher Institute and IPPF, "Facts on the Sexual and Reproductive Health of Adolescent Women in the Developing World", 2010, p3.
- 17 World Health Organization, "Reproductive health strategy to accelerate progress towards the attainment of international development goals and targets", 2004, p14, referenced in IPPF, "The Case for Continued Population Funding in Latin America and the Caribbean: Why the United States should Invest in Sexual and Reproductive Health", October 2011, p1.
- 18 Guttmacher Institute, "Facts on Investing in Family Planning and Maternal and Newborn Health", referenced in IPPF, "The Case for Continued Population Funding in Latin America and the Caribbean: Why the United States Should Invest in Sexual and Reproductive Health", October 2011, p1.
- 19 Rajaratnam et al., "Neonatal, Postneonatal, Childhood, and Under-5 Mortality for 187 Countries, 1970–2010", referenced in IPPF, "The Case for Continued Population Funding in Latin America and the Caribbean: Why the United States Should Invest in Sexual and Reproductive Health", October 2011, p1.
- 20 Guttmacher Institute, "Facts on Investing in Family Planning and Maternal and Newborn Health", referenced in IPPF, "The Case for Continued Population Funding in Latin America and the Caribbean: Why the United States Should Invest in Sexual and Reproductive Health", October 2011, p1.
- 21 Guttmacher Institute, "Facts on Investing in Family Planning and Maternal and Newborn Health", referenced in IPPF, "The Case for Continued Population Funding in Latin America and the Caribbean: Why the United States Should Invest in Sexual and Reproductive Health", October 2011, p1.
- 22 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p6, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>>.
- 23 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p6, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>.
- 24 Griffin, S., "Literature Review on Sexual and Reproductive Health Rights: Universal Access to Services, Focussing on East and Southern Africa and South Asia", retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/pdf/outputs/sexreprorights\_rpc/litreview.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/pdf/outputs/sexreprorights\_rpc/litreview.pdf</a>.

- 25 Research has demonstrated these patterns in Zanzibar in respect of unmarried women and in Botswana and Senegal in respect of married women. Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p4, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>.
- 26 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p4, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>>.
- 27 Avert, "Abstinence Sex Education", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/abstinence.htm">http://www.avert.org/abstinence.htm</a>.
- 28 The Pew Research Centre, "Global Views on Morality", retrieved on 13 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.pewglobal.org/2014/04/15/global-morality/">http://www.pewglobal.org/2014/04/15/global-morality/</a>.
- 29 Venkatraman, C. M., "Contraception for Adolescents in Low and Middle Income Countries: Needs, Barriers, and Access" retrieved on 13 May from <a href="http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/11/1/1">http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/11/1/1</a>.
- 30 Venkatraman, C. M., "Contraception for Adolescents in Low and Middle Income Countries: Needs, Barriers, and Access" retrieved on 13 May from <a href="http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/11/1/1">http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/11/1/1</a>.
- 31 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p4, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>.
- 32 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p4, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>>.
- 33 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p5, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>>.
- 34 Realising Rights Consortium and Health and Development Information Team, "Universal Access to Sexual and Reproductive Health Services", p5, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SexReproRights\_RPC/universal\_access.pdf</a>>.

- 35 Guttmacher Institute, "Contraception and Unintended Pregnancy in Uganda, 2013", retrieved on 19 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/FB-Contraception-and-unintended-pregnancy-in-Uganda.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/FB-Contraception-and-unintended-pregnancy-in-Uganda.html</a>>.
- **36** Kelly, L., "Why it is Important to Develop Capacities for Autonomous Decision-making" International Planned Parenthood Federation <a href="http://www.ippf.org/resources/publications/why-it-important-develop-capacities-autonomous-decision-making">http://www.ippf.org/resources/publications/why-it-important-develop-capacities-autonomous-decision-making</a>.
- **37** IPPF, "Are Protection and Autonomy Opposing Concepts?", Volume 3, Understanding Young People's Right to Decide, retrieved 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_03.pdf">http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_03.pdf</a>.
- 38 The Guttmacher Institute, "Confidential Reproductive Health Services for Minors: The Potential Impact of Mandated Parental Involvement for Contraception", retrieved on 14 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3618204.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3618204.html</a>.
- 39 By way of examples consider these databases: United Nations, "Abortion Policies: A Global Review", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm</a>; Harvard School of Public Health, "Abortion Laws of the World", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/population/abortion/abortionlaws.htm">http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/population/abortion/abortionlaws.htm</a>.
- **40** FPA, "Your Guide to Contraception", website, retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.fpa.org.uk/contraception-help/your-guide-contraception-">http://www.fpa.org.uk/contraception-help/your-guide-contraception-</a>.
- 41 For interest, in Chile without prejudice, service providers must inform authorities, such as the Attorney General or the police, about any adolescent who may have been the victims of sexual violence, in keeping with the laws on sexual assault. IPPF, "Sexual and Reproductive Rights of Young People: Autonomous decision making and confidential services", retrieved on 14 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf">http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf</a>, p47.
- **42** IPPF, "Contraceptive Security: Securing Contraceptives for Economic Development", Fact Card 7, November 2011.
- 43 Guttmacher Institute, "State Policies in Brief: Minor's Access to STI Services", 1 March 2014, retrieved 31 March 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_MASS.pdfNote">http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_MASS.pdfNote</a> that in 11 States it requires that the minor be of a certain age to consent.
- 44 Guttmacher Institute, "State Policies in Brief: Minor's Access to STI Services", 1 March 2014, retrieved 31 March 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_MASS.pdf">http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_MASS.pdf</a>>. Note that in 11 States it requires that the minor be of a certain age to consent.

- 45 Planned Parenthood Federation of America, "Emergency Contraception: History and Access", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.plannedparenthood.org/download\_file/view/883/17251/">http://www.plannedparenthood.org/download\_file/view/883/17251/</a>>.
- 46 Children's Act No. 38 of 2005, section 130, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from the website of the Republic of South Africa at <a href="http://www.gov.za/documents/index.php?term=&dfrom=&dto=&tps%5B0%5D=1&subjs%5B0%5D=0&p=6>">http://www.gov.za/documents/index.php?term=&dfrom=&dto=&tps%5B0%5D=1&subjs%5B0%5D=0&p=6>">http://www.gov.za/documents/index.php?term=&dfrom=&dto=&tps%5B0%5D=1&subjs%5B0%5D=0&p=6>">http://www.gov.za/documents/index.php?term=&dfrom
- **47** Gillick v West Norfolk and Wisbech Area Health Authority and the Department of Health and Social Security [1986] AC 112.
- 48 National Health Service, "Emergency Contraception", NHS Choices, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/emergency-contraception/Pages/Introduction.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/emergency-contraception/Pages/Introduction.aspx</a>.
- **49** Jones, A. S., "Young People's Perceptions of and Access to Health Advice", Nursing Times, Vol. 99, Issue: 30, p32, 29 July 2003.
- 50 For more details on the content of this duty, see: Children Act 2004, sections 11 and 12; HM Government, "Working Together To Safeguard Children: A guide to Inter-agency Working to Safeguard and Promote the Welfare of Children", March 2013; guidance issued by the General Medical Council including "Protecting Children and Young People: The Responsibilities of All Doctors" (2012), "0–18 years: Guidance for All Doctors" (2007) and "Confidentiality" (2009); and guidance issued by the Nursing and Midwifery Council, "The Code: Standards of Conduct, Performance and Ethics for Nurses and Midwives" (2008).
- 51 National Health Service, "Getting Contraception", NHS Choices, retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Sexandyoungpeople/Pages/Gettingcontraception.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Sexandyoungpeople/Pages/Gettingcontraception.aspx</a>.
- 52 IPPF, "Sexual and Reproductive Rights of Young People: Autonomous Decision Making and Confidential Services", Retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf">http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf</a>.
- 53 Article 134.2 Children's Act No 38 of 2005. Available at <a href="http://www.ci.org.za/depts/ci/pubs/pdf/lawreform/billsacts/consolidated\_childrens\_act\_1april2010.pdf">http://www.ci.org.za/depts/ci/pubs/pdf/lawreform/billsacts/consolidated\_childrens\_act\_1april2010.pdf</a>, retrieved 2 April 2014.
- 54 IPPF, "Sexual and Reproductive Rights of Young People: Autonomous Decision Making and Confidential Services" retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf">http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/srrightsyoungen.pdf</a>> p47.
- 55 IPPF, "Peru's Historic Victory for Sexual Rights", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights">http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights</a>.

- 56 IPPF, "Peru's Historic Victory for Sexual Rights", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights">http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights</a>.
- For IPPF et al., "Supplementary Information on Reproductive Rights in Peru, Scheduled for Review by The Pre-sessional Working Group during The 46th Session of the Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights on May 23–27, 2011", 8 April 2011, p15, retrieved on 20 February from <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf</a>.
- 58 IPPF, "Peru's Historic Victory for Sexual Rights", retrieved on 20 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights">http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/blog/perus-historic-victory-sexual-rights</a>.
- 59 UK Government, "Section 73, Sexual Offences Act 2003".
- 60 Population and Family Development Law (No. 52/2009), articles 21, 24 and 25; Health Law (No. 36/2009), articles 72 and 78. This has resulted in SRH services only becoming accessible for married women with the consent of their husbands. Whilst the Government has claimed that this is not the intention of the Health Law 2009, it has nevertheless been widely interpreted in this way by medical practitioners: Amnesty International, "Left without a choice: Barriers to reproductive health in Indonesia", 21/013/2010, November 2010, pp23–25; Amnesty International, "Indonesia: Submission to the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights" ASA 21/034/2013, 2013, pp5–6.
- See the case study on access to tubal ligation in Argentina: Human Rights Watch, "Decisions Denied: Women's Access to Contraceptives and Abortion in Argentina", June 2005, Vol. 17, No. 1 (B), p38. Human Rights Watch has guestioned whether a spousal consent requirement for tubal ligation can be interpreted from Argentina's domestic laws (see aforementioned publication, p38). It also and has argued that the imposition of a spousal consent requirement violates Argentina's human rights obligations under the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (particularly articles 1 and 2 relating to the principle of non-discrimination) and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (particularly articles 2(1) and 3 relating to the principle of non-discrimination and equality, and the right to privacy under article 17), which have directly been incorporated into Argentina's domestic law under its Constitution (see Article 22 of the Argentinean Constitution 1994, retrieved on 21 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.biblioteca.jus.gov.ar/">http://www.biblioteca.jus.gov.ar/</a> Argentina-Constitution.pdf>).

- 62 See, for example, a study from 2001 highlighting marriage requirements imposed by family planning service providers in Ghana; Stanback, J., Twum-Baah, K.A., "Why Do Family Planning Providers Restrict Access to Services? An Examination in Ghana", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, Guttmacher Institute, March 2001, Volume 27(1), retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="https://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2703701.html">https://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2703701.html</a>>.
- 63 Eisenstadt v Baird 405 U.S. 438 (1972). In this case, the US Supreme Court held that a Massachusetts law, which made it a criminal offence for anyone to distribute contraceptives to unmarried persons, violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, thus establishing the right of unmarriedpeople to access contraception on the same basis as married couples.
- 64 Mobaraki, A.E.H., Söderfeldt, B., "Gender Inequity in Saudi Arabia and its Role in Public Health", *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, Volume 16, No. 1, 2010, retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://applications.emro.who.int/emhj/V16/01/16\_1\_2010\_0113\_0118.pdf">http://applications.emro.who.int/emhj/V16/01/16\_1\_2010\_0113\_0118.pdf</a>?ua=1>.
- 65 Abdulla Ahmed, D. A., "Bahrain", Women's Rights in the Middle East and North Africa: Progress Amid Resistance, eds. S. Kelly and J. Breslin (New York, NY: Freedom House; Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2010), p22, retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/inline\_images/Bahrain.pdf">http://www.freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/inline\_images/Bahrain.pdf</a>.
- 66 Abdulla Ahmed, D. A., "Bahrain", Women's Rights in the Middle East and North Africa: Progress Amid Resistance, eds. S. Kelly and J. Breslin (New York, NY: Freedom House; Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2010), p22, retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/inline\_images/Bahrain.pdf">http://www.freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/inline\_images/Bahrain.pdf</a>.
- 67 Centre for Reproductive Rights, "Women's Reproductive Rights in Senegal: A Shadow Report", 2001, retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/Senegal%20CESCR%202001.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/Senegal%20CESCR%202001.pdf</a>.
- 68 EngenderHealth, "Contraceptive Sterilization, Global Issues and Trends", 2002, p91 retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://www.engenderhealth.org/files/pubs/family-planning/factbook\_chapter\_4.pdf">http://www.engenderhealth.org/files/pubs/family-planning/factbook\_chapter\_4.pdf</a>.
- 69 Mitchell, C., "Peru Reinstates Free Distribution of Emergency Contraception After WHO Asserts that EC does not Cause Abortion" April 22, 2010, retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://iwhc.org/2010/04/peru-reinstates-free-distribution-of-emergency-contraception-after-who-asserts-that-ec-does-not-cause-abortion/">http://iwhc.org/2010/04/peru-reinstates-free-distribution-of-emergency-contraception-after-who-asserts-that-ec-does-not-cause-abortion/>.

- 70 The Family Federation of Finland, "EU Member States' Positions on Sexual and Reproductive Rights Issues The Family Federation of Finland – Global Development Unit" p10.
- 71 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, "Supplementary Information on Reproductive Rights in Peru, Scheduled for Review by the Pre-sessional Working Group during the 46th Session of the Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights on May 23–27" retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf</a> p6.
- 72 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, "Supplementary Information on Reproductive Rights in Peru, Scheduled for Review by the Pre-sessional Working Group during the 46th Session of the Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights on May 23–27" retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/ngos/NGO\_CSRH\_PERU\_2\_CESCR46.pdf</a> p6.
- 73 The Center for Reproductive Law and Policy, "Women's Reproductive Rights in Senegal: A Shadow Report", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf</a>> p23.
- 74 The Center for Reproductive Law and Policy, "Women's Reproductive Rights in Senegal: A Shadow Report", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf</a>> p9.
- 75 Dhar, A., "Laws Are Not Enough", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.thehindu.com/sci-tech/health/laws-are-not-enough/article5120399.ece">http://www.thehindu.com/sci-tech/health/laws-are-not-enough/article5120399.ece</a>.
- **76** Dhar, A., "Laws Are Not Enough", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.thehindu.com/sci-tech/health/laws-are-not-enough/article5120399.ece">http://www.thehindu.com/sci-tech/health/laws-are-not-enough/article5120399.ece</a>.
- 77 Centre for Reproductive Rights, "Governments Worldwide Put Emergency Contraception into Women's Hands", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/pub\_bp\_govtswwec.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/pub\_bp\_govtswwec.pdf</a> p13.
- **78** Peace Women, "Morocco", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.peacewomen.org/assets/file/Resources/NGO/hr\_womenrightsmorocco\_fh\_mar2010.pdf">http://www.peacewomen.org/assets/file/Resources/NGO/hr\_womenrightsmorocco\_fh\_mar2010.pdf</a>> p20.
- 79 Center for Reproductive Rights, "Letter to the CEDAW Committee", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/sl\_China\_2006.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/sl\_China\_2006.pdf</a>.
- **80** Social Institutions and Gender Index, "Yemen", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://genderindex.org/country/yemen">http://genderindex.org/country/yemen</a>, p13.

- **81** Centre for Reproductive Rights, "The World's Abortion Laws 2013", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.worldabortionlaws.com/">http://www.worldabortionlaws.com/</a>>.
- **82** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 83 Centre for Reproductive Rights, "The World's Abortion Laws 2013", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.worldabortionlaws.com/">http://www.worldabortionlaws.com/</a>>.
- **84** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- **85** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- **86** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 87 The Guttmacher Institute, 2007 "New data on abortion incidence, safety illuminate key aspects of worldwide abortion debate", retrieved on 14 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/gpr/10/4/gpr100402.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/gpr/10/4/gpr100402.html</a>.
- **88** UN, "Belize", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/belize1.doc.
- **89** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- **90** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 91 HM Government, "Abortion Act 1967", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1967/87/contents">http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1967/87/contents</a>.
- **92** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 93 UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- **94** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 95 UN, "Gabon", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/gabon.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/gabon.doc</a>.

- 96 Center for Reproductive Rights, "World Abortion Laws", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://worldabortionlaws.com/map/">http://worldabortionlaws.com/map/>.</a>
- **97** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- 98 UN, "Panama", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/panama.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/panama.doc</a>>.
- 99 UN, "Bolivia", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/bolivia1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/bolivia1.doc</a>.
- **100** RAINN, "Reporting Rates", retrieved on 2 May 2, 2014 from <a href="https://www.rainn.org/get-information/statistics/reporting-rates">https://www.rainn.org/get-information/statistics/reporting-rates</a>.
- 101 The Centre for Reproductive Rights and Law, "Women's Reproductive Rights in Bolivia: A Shadow Report", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_bol\_0401\_eng.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_bol\_0401\_eng.pdf</a>>.
- 102 Center for Reproductive Rights, "P. and S. v. Poland: Poland's Obligations to Provide Legal Abortion Services to Adolescents", Retrieved on 16 June 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/PS\_FS\_4.13.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/PS\_FS\_4.13.pdf</a>.
- 103 Center for Reproductive Rights, "P. and S. v. Poland: Poland's Obligations to Provide Legal Abortion Services to Adolescents", retrieved on 16 June at <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/crr\_PS\_FactSheet\_6.13.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/crr\_PS\_FactSheet\_6.13.pdf</a>.
- **104** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>>.
- **105** It is speculated that in most of these states there would be some scope for use of the criminal defence of necessity if performing an abortion to protect a woman's life.
- 106 Organisation of American States, "American Convention on Human Rights: Pact of San Jose, Costa Rica, B-32", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.oas.org/dil/treaties\_B-32\_">http://www.oas.org/dil/treaties\_B-32\_</a> American\_Convention\_on\_Human\_Rights.htm>.
- **107** Henshaw, S. K., Singh, S., Haas, T., "The Incidence of Abortion Worldwide", International Family Planning Perspectives, Volume 25, Supplement, January 1999, retrieved on 18 May 2014.
- **108** UN, "Dominican Republic", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/dominr1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/dominr1.doc</a>.

- **109** UN, "Abortion Policies: A Global Review", retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm</a>.
- 110 IPPF, "How Do We Assess the Capacity of Young People to Make Autonomous Decisions?", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_05.pdf">http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_05.pdf</a>>.
- 111 IPPF, "How Do We Assess the Capacity of Young People to Make Autonomous Decisions?", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_05.pdf">http://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf\_right\_to\_decide\_05.pdf</a>>.
- **112** UN, "Abortion Policies: A Global Review", retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles.htm</a>.
- 113 Some of these laws, for instance Turkey's, include a specific exception where the woman's life is at risk. UN, "Turkey", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/turkey.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/turkey.doc</a>.
- **114** UN, "France", retrieved on14 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/france1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/france1.doc</a>.
- **115** UN, "Cuba", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/turkey.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/turkey.doc</a>.
- **116** UN, "Abortion Policies: A Global Review", retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles</a>.
- **117** *Time Magazine*, "A Brief History of China's One Child Policy", retrieved on 6 May from <a href="http://content.time.com/time/world/article/0,8599,1912861,00.html">http://content.time.com/time/world/article/0,8599,1912861,00.html</a>.
- 118 Centre for Reproductive Rights, "Letter to the CEDAW Committee", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/sl\_China\_2006.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/sl\_China\_2006.pdf</a>.
- 119 Peralta, E., "Retired Massachusetts Judge Defends Abortion Ruling", Retrieved on 17 June 2014 from <a href="http://www.npr.org/blogs/thetwo-way/2012/02/21/147214974/retired-massachusetts-judge-defends-forced-abortion-ruling">http://www.npr.org/blogs/thetwo-way/2012/02/21/147214974/retired-massachusetts-judge-defends-forced-abortion-ruling</a>.
- **120** In many countries this may be offset by the prevalence of charity services who often specifically targeting abortion access for vulnerable groups such as young people.
- **121** UN, "Estonia", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/estoni1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/estoni1.doc</a>.
- **122** BBC, "Europe's Abortion Law", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/6235557.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/6235557.stm</a>.

- 123 Center for Reproductive Rights, "Whose Choice?
  How the Hyde Amendment Harms Poor Women",
  retrieved 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/hyde\_report\_9.10\_FINAL.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/hyde\_report\_9.10\_FINAL.pdf</a>>.
- **124** Northern Ireland is an exception; women are not able to access abortion through the National Health Service and must travel to England and pay for the service.
- **125** IPPF, "Abortion Legislation in Europe", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.spdc.pt/files/publicacoes/Pub\_AbortionlegislationinEuropeIPPFEN\_Feb2009.pdf">http://www.spdc.pt/files/publicacoes/Pub\_AbortionlegislationinEuropeIPPFEN\_Feb2009.pdf</a>> p16, 32.
- **126** IPPF, "Abortion Legislation in Europe", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.spdc.pt/files/publicacoes/Pub\_AbortionlegislationinEuropelPPFEN\_Feb2009.pdf">http://www.spdc.pt/files/publicacoes/Pub\_AbortionlegislationinEuropelPPFEN\_Feb2009.pdf</a> p29.
- 127 New Zealand Medical Association, "Improving Termination of Pregnancy Services in New Zealand", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal/124-1339/4792/content.pdf">http://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal/124-1339/4792/content.pdf</a>, p88.
- **128** Guttmacher Institute, "State Facts About Abortion: Texas", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/sfaa/texas.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/sfaa/texas.html</a>.
- 129 New Zealand Medical Association, "Improving Termination of Pregnancy Services in New Zealand", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal/124-1339/4792/content.pdf">http://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal/124-1339/4792/content.pdf</a>>.
- 130 O'Rourke, A., De Crespigny, L., Pyman, A., "Abortion and Conscientious Objection: The New Battleground", Monash University Law Review, Vol. 38, No. 3, retireved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/MonashULawRw/2012/24.pdf">http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/MonashULawRw/2012/24.pdf</a>.
- **131** Ipas, "Bolivia", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ipas.org/en/Where-We-Work/The-Americas/Bolivia.aspx">http://www.ipas.org/en/Where-We-Work/The-Americas/Bolivia.aspx</a>.
- 132 The Guardian, "Doctors' Anti-Abortion Views Could Impact on Women's Access to Service", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/world/2011/jul/18/doctors-abortion-views">http://www.theguardian.com/world/2011/jul/18/doctors-abortion-views</a>.
- **133** UN, "Abortion Policies: A Global Review", retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/profiles</a>>.
- **134** Guttmacher Institute, "An Overview of Abortion Policies" retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_OAL.pdf">http://www.guttmacher.org/statecenter/spibs/spib\_OAL.pdf</a> p1.
- 135 The Salt Lake Tribune, "Utah to have Nation's First 72-hour Abortion Waiting Period" retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.sltrib.com/sltrib/news/54051305-78/abortion-department-effect-eliason.html.csp">http://www.sltrib.com/sltrib/news/54051305-78/abortion-department-effect-eliason.html.csp</a>.

- **136** NHS, "Abortion: Where to go", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Sexualhealth/Pages/Abortionyouroptions.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Sexualhealth/Pages/Abortionyouroptions.aspx</a>.
- **137** BBC, "Europe's Abortion Rules", retrieved on 6 May from <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/6235557.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/6235557.stm</a>.
- **138** UN, "Bolivia", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/bolivia1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/bolivia1.doc</a>.
- 139 Bougher, K., "Seeking Justice for 17 Salvadoran Women Imprisoned for Miscarriage and Stillbirth" Retrieved 17 June 2014 from <a href="http://rhrealitycheck.org/article/2014/05/09/seeking-justice-17-salvadoran-women-imprisoned-unfounded-abortion-related-charges/">http://rhrealitycheck.org/article/2014/05/09/seeking-justice-17-salvadoran-women-imprisoned-unfounded-abortion-related-charges/>.
- **140** Advocates for Youth, "Utah Defines Some Miscarriages as 'Criminal Homicide'", retrieved 16 June from <a href="http://rhrealitycheck.org/article/2014/05/09/seeking-justice-17-salvadoran-women-imprisoned-unfounded-abortion-related-charges/">http://rhrealitycheck.org/article/2014/05/09/seeking-justice-17-salvadoran-women-imprisoned-unfounded-abortion-related-charges/</a>>.
- **141** UN, "World Abortion Policies, 2011", retrieved 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/2011abortion/2011wallchart.pdf</a>.
- **142** Guttmacher Institute, "Facts on Induced Abortions Worldwide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb\_IAW.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb\_IAW.html</a>.
- **143** Guttmacher Institute, "Facts on Induced Abortions Worldwide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb\_IAW.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb\_IAW.html</a>.
- **144** UN, "Cambodia", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/cambod1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/cambod1.doc</a>.
- **145** UN, "Barbados", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/barbad1.doc">http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/abortion/doc/barbad1.doc</a>.
- 146 Guttmacher Institute, "Nepal Reforms Abortion Law to Reduce Maternal Deaths, Promote Women's Status", The Guttmacher Report on Public Policy, May 2002, Volume 5, Number 2, retrieved on 16 June 2014 from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/tgr/05/2/gr050213.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/tgr/05/2/gr050213.html</a>.
- 147 WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, The World Bank, and United Nations Population Division Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group, "Maternal Mortality in 1990–2013", retrieved on 16 June from <a href="http://www.who.int/gho/maternal\_health/countries/npl.pdf?ua=1">http://www.who.int/gho/maternal\_health/countries/npl.pdf?ua=1</a>>.
- **148** IPPF, "Sexual Rights: An IPPF Declaration", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippf.org/resource/Sexual-Rights-IPPF-declaration">http://www.ippf.org/resource/Sexual-Rights-IPPF-declaration</a>> p9.

- **149** IPPF, "Sexual Rights: An IPPF Declaration", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/files/SexualRightsIPPFdeclaration.pdf">http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/files/SexualRightsIPPFdeclaration.pdf</a> p10.
- and traumatic attempts are made by parents to "cure" their children of homosexuality. For example, in Zimbabwe reports indicate an increasing occurrence of organised corrective rape of young men. In other cases a whole village may conspire to coordinate and watch a homosexual man being forced to have sex with a woman as "therapy". Such "treatments" risk causing individuals severe psychiatric damage and physical harm. SW Africa Radio, "'Corrective rape' against homosexuals on the rise in Zimbabwe", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.swradioafrica.com/news080410/corrective-rape080410.htm">http://www.swradioafrica.com/news080410/corrective-rape080410.htm</a>.
- **151** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **152** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **153** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **154** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **155** Stonewall, "Stonewall is Proud to Work Internationally", retrieved on 6 May 2014, <a href="https://www.stonewall.org.uk/what\_we\_do/7976.asp">https://www.stonewall.org.uk/what\_we\_do/7976.asp</a>.
- **156** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **157** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **158** Stonewall, "Stonewall is Proud to Work Internationally", retrieved on 6 May 2014, <a href="https://www.stonewall.org.uk/what\_we\_do/7976.asp">https://www.stonewall.org.uk/what\_we\_do/7976.asp</a>.
- **159** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- 160 ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", retrieved on 14 May 2014 from <a href="http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2013.pdf">http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2013.pdf</a>>.

- 161 Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada, "Pakistan: Situation of Homosexuals, including the Application of Laws towards Homosexuals, the Number of Prosecutions of Homosexuals and their Outcomes; Whether any Regions have an Open and Active Gay Community", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/4784def1c.html">http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/4784def1c.html</a>.
- **162** Amnesty International, "Homophobic Hate Crime Spreading Throughout Brazil", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://blog.amnestyusa.org/americas/homophobic-hates-crimes-spreading-throughout-brazil/">http://blog.amnestyusa.org/americas/homophobic-hates-crimes-spreading-throughout-brazil/</a>.
- 163 Di Silvio, L., "Correcting Corrective Rape: Carmichele and Developing South Africa's Affirmative Obligations to Prevent Violence Against Women", Georgetown Law Journal, 2003 Volume 99, p1469–515.
- 164 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p72.
- 165 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p23.
- 166 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p12.
- **167** Transgender Europe, "Argentina Gender Identity Law (2012)", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.tgeu.org/Argentina\_Gender\_Identity\_Law">http://www.tgeu.org/Argentina\_Gender\_Identity\_Law</a>.
- **168** Lee Wei, C., Baharuddin, A., Abdullah, R., Abdullah, Z., Por Chhe Ern, K., Transgenderism in Malaysia, Dharmaram Journals, retrieved on 15 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.dharmaramjournals.in/ArticleDetails.aspx?AID=132">http://www.dharmaramjournals.in/ArticleDetails.aspx?AID=132</a>.
- 169 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a>>, p84.
- 170 Transgender Europe, "Argentina Gender Identity Law (2012)", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.tgeu.org/">http://www.tgeu.org/</a> Argentina\_Gender\_Identity\_Law>.
  ILGA, "Chile", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://ilga.org/">http://ilga.org/</a> ilga/en/countries/CHILE/Law>.
  Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/</a> downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf> p72.

- 171 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p73.
- 172 The New York Times, "Brazil: Free Sex Change Operations", retrieved on 7 May 2014 from <a href="http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9D07E4D81231F93BA2575BC0A9619C8B63">http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9D07E4D81231F93BA2575BC0A9619C8B63</a>.
- **173** BBC, "Cuba to provide free sex-change", retrieved on 7 May 2014 from <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/7441448.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/7441448.stm</a>.
- 174 Sexual Rights Initiative, "Contribution to the OHCHR Study on Children's Right to Health", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Children/Study/RightHealth/Sexual\_Rights\_Initiative.doc">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Children/Study/RightHealth/Sexual\_Rights\_Initiative.doc</a> p2.
- 175 NHS, "Medical Care for Gender Variant Children and Young People: Answering Families' Questions", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh\_082954.pdf">http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh\_082954.pdf</a>.
- **176** Hewitt, J. et al, "Hormone treatment of gender identity disorder in a cohort of children and adolescents", Medical Journal of Australia, 2012 Volume 196, p578–81.
- 177 NHS, "Medical Care for Gender Variant Children and Young People: Answering Families' Questions", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh\_082954.pdf">http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh\_082954.pdf</a> p17.
- 178 The Endocrine Society, "Endocrine Treatment of Transsexual Persons", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.endocrine.org/~/media/endosociety/Files/Publications/Clinical%20Practice%20Guidelines/Endocrine-Treatment-of-Transsexual-Persons.pdf">http://www.endocrine.org/~/media/endosociety/Files/Publications/Clinical%20Practice%20Guidelines/Endocrine-Treatment-of-Transsexual-Persons.pdf</a>> p13.
- **179** WPATH, "Standards of Care", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.wpath.org/uploaded\_files/140/files/IJT%20SOC,%20V7.pdf">http://www.wpath.org/uploaded\_files/140/files/IJT%20SOC,%20V7.pdf</a> p172.
- **180** Proud Queer Monthly, "Transactive: A Haven and a Voice for Transgender Children", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.pqmonthly.com/transactive-haven-voice-transgender-children/17469">http://www.pqmonthly.com/transactive-haven-voice-transgender-children/17469</a>>.
- **181** Gender Identity Research and Education Society, "Medical Care for Gender Variant Young People: Dealing with Practical Problems", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.gires.org.uk/assets/Sexologies/sexologies.pdf">http://www.gires.org.uk/assets/Sexologies/sexologies.pdf</a> p3.

- **182** Proud Queer Monthly, "Transactive: A Haven and a Voice for Transgender Children", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.pqmonthly.com/transactive-haven-voice-transgender-children/17469">http://www.pqmonthly.com/transactive-haven-voice-transgender-children/17469</a>>.
- 183 Sexual Rights Initiative, "Contribution to the OHCHR Study on Children's Right to Health", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Children/Study/RightHealth/Sexual\_Rights\_Initiative.doc">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Children/Study/RightHealth/Sexual\_Rights\_Initiative.doc</a> p2.
- 184 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p72.
- 185 Transgender Europe, "Transrespect versus Transphobia World Wide", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf">http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT\_research-report.pdf</a> p73.
- **186** ILGA, "Malaysia", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://ilga.org/ilga/en/countries/MALAYSIA/Law">http://ilga.org/ilga/en/countries/MALAYSIA/Law</a>.
- 187 The Independent, "Special report: The punishment was Death by Stoning. The crime? Having a Mobile Phone", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/politics/special-report-the-punishment-was-death-by-stoning-the-crime-having-a-mobile-phone-8846585.html">http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/politics/special-report-the-punishment-was-death-by-stoning-the-crime-having-a-mobile-phone-8846585.html</a>>.
- **188** Expat Arrivals, "Local Laws in Dubai", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.expatarrivals.com/article/local-laws-in-dubai">http://www.expatarrivals.com/article/local-laws-in-dubai</a>.
- **189** ILGA, "Dominica", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://ilga.org/ilga/en/countries/DOMINICA/Law">http://ilga.org/ilga/en/countries/DOMINICA/Law</a>.
- **190** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- **191** Age of Consent, website, retrieved on 18 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ageofconsent.com/ageofconsent.htm">http://www.ageofconsent.com/ageofconsent.htm</a>.
- 192 Section 206 and 207, Penal Code, Austria (2001).
- **193** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- **194** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- **195** UNICEF, "Are You Old Enough?" retrieved on 14 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.unicef.org/rightsite/433\_457.htm#to\_have\_sex">http://www.unicef.org/rightsite/433\_457.htm#to\_have\_sex</a>.
- **196** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- **197** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.

- **198** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>.
- **199** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- 200 BBC, "Gay Consent At 16 Becomes Law" retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk\_politics/1047291.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk\_politics/1047291.stm</a>. ILGA Europe, "Hungarian Constitutional Court Reaffirms Equal Age of Consent", retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.ilga-europe.org/home/guide\_europe/country\_by\_country/hungary/hungarian\_constitutional\_court\_reaffirms\_equal\_age\_of\_consent>">http://www.ilga-europe.org/home/guide\_europe/country\_by\_country/hungary/hungarian\_constitutional\_court\_reaffirms\_equal\_age\_of\_consent>">http://www.gaylage\_of\_consent>"Portugal" retrieved on 14 May from <a href="http://www.gaylimes.co.uk/Hotspots/GayGuide-action-Country-countryid-780.html">http://www.gaylimes.co.uk/Hotspots/GayGuide-action-Country-countryid-780.html</a>.
- **201** Gerstner, D., (2011) "Routledge International Encyclopaedia of Queer Culture", p649, 654, 665.
- **202** UK Government, "Sexual Offences (Amendment) Act, 2000", retrieved on 6 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/44/contents">http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/44/contents</a>.
- **203** ILGA, "State-sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Laws Criminalising Same-sex Sexual Acts Between Consenting Adults", May 2012.
- **204** New Internationalist, "Prostitution & the Law: The Facts", retrieved on 24 February 2014 from <a href="http://newint.org/features/1994/02/05/facts/">http://newint.org/features/1994/02/05/facts/</a>.
- **205** IPS, "Adultery Laws Unfairly Target Women, U.N. Says", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ipsnews.net/2012/10/adultery-laws-unfairly-target-women-u-n-says/">http://www.ipsnews.net/2012/10/adultery-laws-unfairly-target-women-u-n-says/</a>>.
- 206 WHO, "World Report on Violence and Health", 2002, p154.
- **207** Human Rights Watch, "We Have the Promises of the World: Women's Rights in Afghanistan" 2009, p6.
- 208 NSPCC, "Barriers to Children Seeking Help", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="https://www.nspcc.org.uk/">https://www.nspcc.org.uk/</a> Inform/research/questions/barriers\_to\_seeking\_help\_wda70246.html>.
- 209 IPPF, "Charter on Sexual and Reproductive Rights", 2003.
- **210** Save the Children, "Engaging Boys to Stop Violence: A Stepby-step Guide for Initiating Social Change", 2010.
- **211** Save the Children, "Engaging Boys to Stop Violence: A Stepby-step Guide for Initiating Social Change", 2010.
- 212 The Advocates for Human Rights, "National Sexual Assault Laws", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.stopvaw.org/637c7df2-04b8-4a8b-97f6-97c2f4570378">http://www.stopvaw.org/637c7df2-04b8-4a8b-97f6-97c2f4570378</a>.

- **213** Rape Crisis England and Wales "Stern Review on Rape Reporting", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.rapecrisis.org.uk/news\_show.php?id=41">http://www.rapecrisis.org.uk/news\_show.php?id=41</a>.
- 214 Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault, "Sexual Violence and Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual, Trans, Intersex, and Queer Communities", retrieved on 13 May from <a href="http://www.aifs.gov.au/acssa/pubs/sheets/rs3/rs3.pdf">http://www.aifs.gov.au/acssa/pubs/sheets/rs3/rs3.pdf</a>>.
- **215** Douglas, H., Godden L., "The Decriminalisation of Domestic Violence: Examining the Interaction between the Criminal Law and Domestic Violence." *Criminal Law Journal*, February 2003 Volume 27.
- 216 WHO, "Intimate Partner Violence", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/world\_report/factsheets/en/ipvfacts.pdf">http://www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/world\_report/factsheets/en/ipvfacts.pdf</a>, p1.
- 217 Sorenson, S. B., Thomas, K. A., "Intimate Partner Violence in Same-Sex Relationships", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.sp2.upenn.edu/ortner/docs/factsheet\_ipvinsamesexrelationships.pdf">http://www.sp2.upenn.edu/ortner/docs/factsheet\_ipvinsamesexrelationships.pdf</a>>.
- 218 WHO, "World Report on Violence and Health: Sexual Violence (Chapter 6)", retrieved on 13 May 2014 from <a href="http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2002/9241545615\_chap6\_eng.pdf?ua=1">http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2002/9241545615\_chap6\_eng.pdf?ua=1</a>, p162.
- 219 The Centre for Reproductive Law and Policy, "Women's Reproductive Rights in Senegal: A Shadow Report", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/sr\_sen\_0801\_eng.pdf</a> p9.
- **220** <a href="http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Factsheet-Global-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women.pdf">http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Factsheet-Global-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women.pdf</a>.
- 221 The Guardian, "Women UN Justice Report: Get the Data" retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/global-development/poverty-matters/2011/jul/06/un-womenlegal-rights-data#data">http://www.theguardian.com/global-development/poverty-matters/2011/jul/06/un-womenlegal-rights-data#data</a>.
- 222 Convention on the Elimination on All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, "General Recommendation 19", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/recommendations/recomm.htm#recom19">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/recommendations/recomm.htm#recom19</a>>.
- 223 The Guardian, "Women UN Justice Report: Get the Data" retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/global-development/poverty-matters/2011/jul/06/un-womenlegal-rights-data#data">http://www.theguardian.com/global-development/poverty-matters/2011/jul/06/un-womenlegal-rights-data#data</a>.
- **224** UNFPA, "Ending Widespread Violence Against Women", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.unfpa.org/gender/violence.htm">http://www.unfpa.org/gender/violence.htm</a>.
- **225** Leach, F., Humphreys, S., "Gender Violence in Schools: Taking the Girls-as-victims Discourse Forward" in "Gender-Based Violence", 2007, p107.

- **226** GSDRC, "Gender based violence", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.gsdrc.org/go/topic-guides/gender/gender-based-violence">http://www.gsdrc.org/go/topic-guides/gender/gender-based-violence</a>.
- 227 Rosa Loga, "Good Practices and Challenges in Legislation on Violence Against Women", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Rosa%20Logar\_pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Rosa%20Logar\_pdf</a>.
- 228 WHO, "World Report on Violence and Health" 2002, p149.
- **229** Lambert, T. M., "Definitions of Rape" in Smith, M. D., *Encyclopaedia of Rape*, USA: Greenwood Press, 2004, pp169–170.
- **230** Strumpen-Darrie, C., "Rape: A Survey of Current International Jurisprudence", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/v7i3/rape.htm">http://www.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/v7i3/rape.htm</a>.
- 231 Washington State University ADCAPS, "Sexual Assault Law in Other Countries", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://adcaps.wsu.edu/educationabroad/sa-law-intl/">http://adcaps.wsu.edu/educationabroad/sa-law-intl/</a>>.
- 232 Republic Act No. 8353, "The Anti-Rape Law of 1997", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.chanrobles.com/republicactno8353.htm#.U2Nos010Vfw">http://www.chanrobles.com/republicactno8353.htm#.U2Nos010Vfw</a>.
- **233** Waites, M., *The Age of Consent: Young People, Sexuality and Citizenship*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005.
- **234** AVERT, "Age of Sexual Consent", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm">http://www.avert.org/age-sexual-consent.htm</a>>.
- **235** Waites, M., *The Age of Consent: Young People, Sexuality and Citizenship*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005.
- **236** Waites, M., *The Age of Consent: Young People, Sexuality and Citizenship*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005.
- 237 ECPAT, "Strengthening Laws Addressing Child Sexual Exploitation", 2008, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.ecpat.net/sites/default/files/Legal\_Instrument\_En\_Final.pdf">http://www.ecpat.net/sites/default/files/Legal\_Instrument\_En\_Final.pdf</a>>.
- 238 J.C. Barden, "Martial Rape: Drive for Tougher Laws Pressed" retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/1987/05/13/us/marital-rape-drive-for-tougher-laws-is-pressed.html">http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKHL/1991/12.html</a>.
- 239 UN Women, "In Pursuit of Justice: Executive Summary" retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Summary-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women1.pdf">http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Summary-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women1.pdf</a>.
- **240** Jaishankar, K., Ronel, N., (2013) "SASCV 2013 Proceedings", p23.

- 241 Central Indian Government, "Indian Penal Code, Section 376(A)", Savitri Goonesekere, "Violence, Law and Women's Rights in South Asia", 2004, Karen Stefiszyn, "A Brief Overview of Recent Developments in Sexual Offences Legislation in Southern Africa", 2008, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20</a> Paper%20(Karen%20Stefiszyn).pdf>.
- 242 Statute Law of the Bahamas, "Chapter 99: Sexual Offences and Domestic Violence", 2006, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.oas.org/dil/Sexual\_Offences\_and\_Domestic\_Violence\_Act\_Bahamas.pdf">http://www.oas.org/dil/Sexual\_Offences\_and\_Domestic\_Violence\_Act\_Bahamas.pdf</a>>.
- **243** Central Indian Government, "Indian Penal Code, Section 376(A)".
- 244 Barad, E., Slattery, E., and the following: Horváth, E., Zukani, M., Eppel, D., Kays, M., Konare, A., Park, Y. S., Pischalnikova, E. Y., Stankard, N., and Zingher, T., with the assistance of: Montas, A. F., Manara, N. "Gender-Based Violence Laws in Sub-Saharan Africa", 2007, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/GBV">http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/GBV</a> Laws in Sub Saharan Africa.pdf>.
- 245 McDaniel, M., "From Morocco to Denmark: Rape survivors around the world are forced to marry attackers", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.womenundersiegeproject.org/blog/entry/from-morocco-to-denmark-rape-survivors-around-the-world-are-forced-to-marry">http://www.womenundersiegeproject.org/blog/entry/from-morocco-to-denmark-rape-survivors-around-the-world-are-forced-to-marry>.</a>
- **246** The Economist, "Rape laws, crime and clarity", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/21561883">http://www.economist.com/node/21561883</a>.
- **247** *The Economist*, "Rape laws, crime and clarity", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/21561883">http://www.economist.com/node/21561883</a>.
- **248** The Guardian, "Stop Tip-toeing around 'Honour' Killings", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2009/dec/20/honour-killings-murder">http://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2009/dec/20/honour-killings-murder</a>.
- **249** RAINN, "Reporting Rates", retrieved on 2 May 2, 2014 from <a href="https://www.rainn.org/get-information/statistics/reporting-rates">https://www.rainn.org/get-information/statistics/reporting-rates</a>.
- **250** The Advocates for Human Rights, "National Sexual Assault Laws", retrieved on 1 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.stopvaw.org/637c7df2-04b8-4a8b-97f6-97c2f4570378">http://www.stopvaw.org/637c7df2-04b8-4a8b-97f6-97c2f4570378</a>.
- **251** *The Economist*, "Rape Laws, Crime and Clarity", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/21561883">http://www.economist.com/node/21561883</a>.
- **252** Scottish Government, "Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009", retrieved on 13 May from <a href="http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/part/1">http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/part/1</a>.

- 253 Human Rights Watch, "US: Federal Statistics Show Widespread Prison Rape", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.hrw.org/news/2007/12/15/us-federal-statistics-show-widespread-prison-rape">http://www.hrw.org/news/2007/12/15/us-federal-statistics-show-widespread-prison-rape</a>.
- **254** *The Economist*, "Rape Laws, Crime and Clarity", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/21561883">http://www.economist.com/node/21561883</a>.
- 255 Loga, R., "Good Practices and Challenges in Legislation on Violence Against Women", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Rosa%20Logar\_.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMGPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Rosa%20Logar\_.pdf</a>.
- **256** UN Women, "Factsheet: Latin America and the Caribbean", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Factsheet-LAC-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women.pdf">http://progress.unwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/EN-Factsheet-LAC-Progress-of-the-Worlds-Women.pdf</a>>.
- **257** <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf</a>.
- 258 Tanata, F. M., "Good Practices Regarding Legal Reforms in the Area of Violence Against Women in Latin America and the Caribbean", 2008, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf</a>.
- 259 Tanata, F. M., "Good Practices Regarding Legal Reforms in the Area of Violence Against Women in Latin America and the Caribbean", 2008, retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/egm/vaw\_legislation\_2008/expertpapers/EGMPLVAW%20Paper%20\_Flor%20de%20Maria%20Meza%20Tananta\_.pdf</a>.
- **260** U.S. Department of State, "Yemen", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2007/100610.htm">http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2007/100610.htm</a>.
- 261 UNICEF, "Report in the Proceedings of the Africa Technical Preparatory Meeting for World Congress 3 Against Sexual Exploitation of Children and Adolescents", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.unicef.org/wcaro/Session\_2\_final\_report.pdf">http://www.unicef.org/wcaro/Session\_2\_final\_report.pdf</a>.
- **262** WHO, "Female Genital Mutilation", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs241/en/">http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs241/en/</a>.
- 263 WHO, "Health complications of female genital mutilation", retrieved on 13 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/fgm/health\_consequences\_fgm/en/">http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/fgm/health\_consequences\_fgm/en/</a>>.
- **264** The Guttmacher Institute, "Female Circumcision: Rite of Passage or a Violation of Rights", retrieved on 13 May from <a href="http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2313097.html">http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2313097.html</a>.

- 265 UN, "Eliminating Female Genital Mutilation" retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf</a>.
- 266 Centre for Reproductive Rights, "Female Genital Mutilation: Legal Prohibitions Worldwide", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://reproductiverights.org/en/document/female-genital-mutilation-fgm-legal-prohibitions-worldwide">http://reproductiverights.org/en/document/female-genital-mutilation-fgm-legal-prohibitions-worldwide</a>.
- **267** UNFPA, "Frequently Asked Questions about Female Genital Mutilation/cutting", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.unfpa.org/gender/practices2.htm">http://www.unfpa.org/gender/practices2.htm</a>.
- 268 UN, "Eliminating Female Genital Mutilation" retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf</a>.
- 269 University of Pennsylvania African Studies Centre, Constitution of Ethiopia retrieved on 19 June 2014 from <a href="http://www.africa.upenn.edu/Hornet/Ethiopian\_Constitution.html">http://www.africa.upenn.edu/Hornet/Ethiopian\_Constitution.html</a>.
- **270** HLSP, "Evaluating a Rights-based Approach to Adolescent and Youth Development in Ethiopia", retrieved on 19 June 2014 from <a href="http://ethiopia.unfpa.org/drive/EvaluationReport.pdf">http://ethiopia.unfpa.org/drive/EvaluationReport.pdf</a>>.
- 271 UN, "Eliminating Female Genital Mutilation", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/52/statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_FGM.pdf</a>.
- 272 <http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw52/
   statements\_missions/Interagency\_Statement\_on\_Eliminating\_
   FGM.pdf>.
- **273** WHO, "An Update on WHO's Work on Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2011/WHO\_RHR\_11.18\_eng.pdf">http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2011/WHO\_RHR\_11.18\_eng.pdf</a>>.
- 274 NHS Choices, "Providing FGM Health Services for Women', retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/">http://www.nhs.uk/</a> NHSEngland/AboutNHSservices/sexual-health-services/Pages/fgm-health-services-for-women.aspx>.
- **275** ProCon, "100 Countries and Their Prostitution Policies", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://prostitution.procon.org/view.resource.php?resourceID=000772">http://prostitution.procon.org/view.resource.php?resourceID=000772>.</a>
- **276** ProCon, "100 Countries and Their Prostitution Policies", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://prostitution.procon.org/view.resource.php?resourceID=000772">http://prostitution.procon.org/view.resource.php?resourceID=000772</a>.
- 277 ScotPep, "Letter to Rhonda Grant, MSP", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://scot-pep.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/scot-pep\_response\_to\_rhoda\_grant\_consultation.pdf">http://scot-pep.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/scot-pep\_response\_to\_rhoda\_grant\_consultation.pdf</a>>.

- 278 Ekberg, G., "The Swedish Law Which Prohibits the Purchase of a Sexual Service: Best Practices for Prevention of Prostitution and Sexual Trafficking in Human Beings", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.iiav.nl/epublications/2005/swedish\_law\_that\_prohibits\_the\_purchase\_of\_a\_sexual\_service.pdf">http://www.iiav.nl/epublications/2005/swedish\_law\_that\_prohibits\_the\_purchase\_of\_a\_sexual\_service.pdf</a>>.
- 279 UK Home Office, "Effective Practice When Responding to Prostitution", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/effective-practice-in-responding-to-prostitution">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/effective-practice-in-responding-to-prostitution</a>.
- 280 Jordan, A., "The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf">http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf</a>>.
- **281** Jordan, A., "The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf">http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf</a>>.
- 282 Jordan, A., "The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf">http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf</a>>.
- 283 Jordan, A., "The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf">http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/lssue-Paper-4.pdf</a>>. Dodillet, S., Östergren, P., "The Swedish Sex Purchase Act: Claimed Success and Documented Effects", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.petraostergren.com/upl/files/54259.pdf">http://www.petraostergren.com/upl/files/54259.pdf</a>>.
- 284 Parliament of Victoria, "Inquiry into People Trafficking for Sex Work", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/images/stories/committees/dcpc/Trafficking\_Final\_full\_report\_with\_cover.pdf">http://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/images/stories/committees/dcpc/Trafficking\_Final\_full\_report\_with\_cover.pdf</a>. <a href="http://esplerp.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/1014\_1337">http://esplerp.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/1014\_1337</a>. Weitzer.pdf<
- **285** NSWP, "The Criminalization of Clients", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.nswp.org/sites/nswp.org/files/Criminalisation%20of%20Clients-c.pdf">http://www.nswp.org/sites/nswp.org/files/Criminalisation%20of%20Clients-c.pdf</a>.
- **286** NSWP, "The Criminalization of Clients", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.nswp.org/sites/nswp.org/files/Criminalisation%20of%20Clients-c.pdf">http://www.nswp.org/sites/nswp.org/files/Criminalisation%20of%20Clients-c.pdf</a>.
- 287 UN General Assembly, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right of Everyone to the Enjoyment of the Highest Attainable Standard of Physical and Mental Health, Anand Grover", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/14session/A.HRC.14.20.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/14session/A.HRC.14.20.pdf</a>>.

- 288 UN General Assembly, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right of Everyone to the Enjoyment of the Highest Attainable Standard of Physical and Mental Health, Anand Grover", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/14session/A.HRC.14.20.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/14session/A.HRC.14.20.pdf</a>>.
- 289 WHO, "Prevention and Treatment of HIV and other Sexually Transmitted Infections for Sex Workers in Low-and-Middle Income Countries: Recommendations for a Public Health Approach", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77745/1/9789241504744\_eng.pdf">http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77745/1/9789241504744\_eng.pdf</a>>.
- **290** The Global Commission on HIV and the Law, "Risks, Rights and Health", retrieved on 2 May 2014 from <a href="http://www.hivlawcommission.org/resources/report/Executive-Summary-GCHL-EN.pdf">http://www.hivlawcommission.org/resources/report/Executive-Summary-GCHL-EN.pdf</a>.

Inception report	Qualitative research on le	gal barriers to young	people's access to sex	ual and reproductive	health services 47

48 Qualitative research on legal barriers to young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services Inception report



## Qualitative research on legal barriers to young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services

Inception report

The International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF) is a global service provider and a leading advocate of sexual and reproductive health and rights for all. We are a worldwide movement of national organizations working with and for communities and individuals.

Published in June 2014 by the International Planned Parenthood Federation

4 Newhams Row, London SE1 3UZ, UK

tel +44 (0)20 7939 8200 fax +44 (0)20 7939 8300

web www.ippf.org
email info@ippf.org

UK Registered Charity No. 229476

Typeset by worldaccent.com
Front cover photo by Creativeye99/istockphoto.com

Across the world, laws create barriers to young people accessing the sexual and reproductive health services that they need. Often, the rationale for such laws is cited as 'protection' but, in reality, they have the opposite effect.

While there is an extensive body of literature that explores social, cultural and economic barriers to young people's access to SRH services in a range of contexts around the world, much less is known about the role of law in influencing and shaping their access. This is despite the fact that every state around the world, without exception, has developed legislation that is in some manner designed to purposefully regulate and restrict access to SRH services.

This inception report is the first stage in an exploratory research project which will attempt to fill this gap. It includes a summary global mapping of the basic ways in which different legal systems impose restrictions on young people's access to sexual and reproductive health services both directly and indirectly. Based on this analysis, the report sets out a methodology for the primary research, which will contribute to the existing evidence base on the barriers that prevent young people from accessing SRH services. The research will inform advocacy and programmatic work aimed at fulfilling young people's sexual rights.

